Copyright by Jung Gook Lim

2012

The Dissertation Committee for Jung Gook Lim Certifies that this is the approved version of the following dissertation:

## MOLECULAR PATHOGENESIS OF SPINOCEREBELLAR ATAXIA TYPE 10

**Committee:** 

Partha S. Sarkar, Ph.D., Supervisor

Tetsuo Ashizawa, M.D., Co-Supervisor

Jin Mo Chung, Ph.D.

George R. Jackson, M.D., Ph.D.

Jose M. Barral, M.D., Ph.D.

Dean, Graduate School

### **MOLECULAR PATHOGENESIS OF SPINOCEREBELLAR TYPE 10**

by

Jung Gook Lim, M.D.

### Dissertation

Presented to the Faculty of the Graduate School of The University of Texas Medical Branch in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

**Doctor of Philosophy** 

The University of Texas Medical Branch December, 2012

## Dedication

To my family

## Acknowledgements

Without the assistance of numerous individuals, I certainly could not have completed my dissertation. I thank all for contributing to the completion of this dissertation.

### Molecular Pathogenesis of Spinocerebellar Ataxia Type 10

Publication No.\_\_\_\_\_

Jung Gook Lim, Ph.D. The University of Texas Medical Branch, 2012

Supervisor: Partha S. Sarkar

Spinocerebellar ataxia type 10 (SCA10) is a unique autosomal dominant cerebellar ataxia (ADCA) which habors non-coding ATTCT repeat expansion on the 9<sup>th</sup> intron of the *ATXN10* gene. The presence of seizure in addition to pancerebellar ataxia is a characteristic clinical manifestation of SCA10. How this enlarged intronic ATTCT repeat leads to degeneration or dysfunction of the nervous system underlying SCA10 phenotype is not well known. The present study focused on elucidating a molecular pathogenesis of this unique inherited disease.

In this study, we demonstrated normally transcribed ATTCT-repeats form a lengthy AUUCU pre-mRNA molecule in SCA10 cells, after being completely spliced out. We identified the specific interaction between this AUUCU RNA repeat and a RNA-binding protein, Nova, which leads to the aberrant splicing of Nova target transcripts, including major inhibitory neurotransmitter receptors, glycine and GABA. Our study also indicated that the sequestration of the RNA-binding proteins by toxic expanded repeats result in complex SCA10 phenotype. We clearly showed that aberrant splicing of GABA<sub>A</sub>R $\gamma$ 2 and GlyR $\alpha$ 2 causes disruption of inhibitory transmission in Purkinje cells in

the SCA10 cerebellum. We demonstrated that abnormal electrophysiology in SCA10 occurs specifically through modulating GABA neurotransmission but not glycine.

In our current study, we were able to define SCA10 as a toxic RNA disease, and presented one of the possible molecular and electrophysiological mechanisms of SCA10 pathophysiology.

### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

List of Tablesx
List of Figuresxi
List of Abbreviationsxiv
Chapter 1: Background1
Microsatellite Repeat Instability and Human Genetic Disorders1
Autosomal Dominant Cerebellar Ataxia7
Intronic Microsatellite Repeat Expansions, Autosomal Dominant Cerebellar Ataxia, and Spinocerebellar Ataxia type 1010
Clinical Description of SCA1012
Expansion of Intronic ATTCT Microsatellite Repeats in SCA1013
Ataxin-10
The Pathogenic Mechanisms of SCA1015
Transcription of the Mutant ATXN10 Gene in SCA1015
Haploinsufficiency of ATXN1016
Effect of Massive ATTCT Repeat Expansion on the Transcription of the Neighboring Genes That Flank the Mutant <i>ATXN10</i> Locus16
Chapter 2: Hypothesis and Specific Aims
RNA-mediated Pathogenic Mechanisms in Myotonic Dystrophy Type 1 and 2
The Role of the Mutant AUUCU RNA in the Pathogenic Mechanism of SCA10
Epanded AUUCU Repeats Form Discrete Aggregates or Foci in SCA10 Cells20
Identification of the Proteins That Complex with the Expanded AUUCU RNA Repeats
Sequestration of AUUCU RNA-binding Protein in SCA10 Brain22
Hypotheses
Specific Aims25
Specific Aim 1

Specific Aim 2-1
Specific Aim 2-2
Chapter 3: Specific Aim 1. Aberrant Interaction of Neuronal Protein Nova with Mutant AUUCU RNA Repeats
Introduction
The Nucleic Acids-binding Motifs in hnRNPK: the K-Homology(KH) Nucleic Acid-binding Domains
The Functional Significance of the KH-domains
Nova
Results
Nova Contains Highly Conserved RNA-binding Sequences, Homologous to the KH-domain of hnRNPK
Nova Shows Strong Affinity for AUUCU Repeats and Forms RNA- protein Complex under Normal Physiologic condition <i>in vitro</i> 32
Nova Shows Marked Co-localization with the AUUCU RNA Foci in SH- SY5Y Cells Ectopically Expressing Pathogenic Lengths of AUUCU Repeats
The AUUCU RNA Foci Show Strong Co-localization with Endogenous Nova in the SCA10 Transgenic Mouse Brain Ectopically Expressing ~500 AUUCU Repeats
Nova Co-localizes with the AUUCU RNA Foci in SCA10 Patients' Brain
Summary/Discussion and Further Study
Chapter 4: Specific Aim 2. Aberrant Splicing of Noa Target Genes in SCA1040
Introduction
Alternative Splicing
Nova41
Splicing Regulatory Fuction of Nova41
Results43
Alternative Splicing of GlyR $\alpha$ 2 and GABA <sub>A</sub> R $\gamma$ 2 Transcripts43
Aberrant Splicing of GlyRα2 and GABA <sub>A</sub> Rγ2 Transcripts in Human Neuroblastoma(SH-SY5Y) Cells Expressing the Expanded AUUCU RNA Repeats45
Targeted Inactivation of Nova Results in Aberrant Splicing of the GlyR $\alpha$ 2 and GABA <sub>A</sub> R $\gamma$ 2 Transcripts in the SH-SY5Y Cells

Splicing Defect of Nova Target Genes in SCA10 Transgenic Mouse Brain 
Splicing Defect of Other Nova Targets in SCA10 Models50
Discussion
Does the Splicing Defect of the Nova Targets Lead to the SCA10 Phenotype?
Chapter 5: Discussion and Additional Experiments
SCA10 as a Toxic RNA Gain-of-Function Disease56
SCA10 Phenotype57
The Pathogenic Implications of Aberrant Splicing in SCA1059
The Electrophysiological Defects in SCA1059
Results60
mIPSCs of Purkinje Cells(PCs) in Wild Type and SCA10 Transgenic Mice60
Effects of GABA inhibitor and Glycine Inhibitor on mIPSCs of Purkinje Cells in the SCA10 Transgenic Mice64
Summary and Further Study65
Cited Literature
Vita

## List of Tables

Table 1-1:	Poly-glutamine Diseases
Table 1-2:	Spinocerebellar Ataxias (SCAs) or Autosomal Dominant Cerebellar
	Ataxia (ADCAs)

## List of Figures

Figure 1-1:	Classification of Repeat Expansion Diseases				
Figure 2-1:	RNA Foci in SCA10 Cells21				
Figure 2-2:	Central Hypothesis				
Figure 2-3:	Specific Aims25				
Figure 3-1:	Highly Conserved KH-domain Sequences of hnRNPK, Nova-1 and -2				
Figure 3-2:	RNA Solution Binding Assay				
Figure 3-3:	Co-localization of AUUCU-RNA and Nova in SH-SY5Y Cells35				
Figure 3-4A: Co-localization of AUUCU RNA and Nova Protein in Hippocampus					
	CA1 from SCA10 Mouse				
Figure 3-4B	: Co-localization of AUUCU RNA and Nova Protein in Cerebellar				
Figure 3-5:	RNA Foci or its Co-localization of AUUCU RNA and Nova Protein				
	Are Not Detected in Control Mouse				
Figure 3-6:	Co-localization of AUUCU RNA and Nova Protein in Human Brain.38				
Figure 4-1:	Alternative Splicing of GlyR $\alpha$ 2 and a Splicing Regulatory Factor, Nova				

Figure 4-2:	Alternative Splicing of $GABA_AR\gamma 2$ and a Splicing Regulatory Factor,
	Nova44
Figure 4-3:	Aberrant Splicing of GlyR $\alpha$ 2 in SH-SY5Y Cells Expressing Mutant
	AUUCU
Figure 4-4:	Aberrant Splicing of $GABA_A R\gamma 2$ in SH-SY5Y Cells Expressing Mutant
	AUUCU
Figure 4-5:	Down-regulation of Nova by siRNA47
Figure 4-6:	Alternative Splicing of GlyR $\alpha$ 2 and GABA <sub>A</sub> R $\gamma$ 2 in SH-SY5Y Cells
	Treated with Nova siRNA
Figure 4-7:	Alternative Splicing of GlyR $\alpha$ 2 and GABA <sub>A</sub> R $\gamma$ 2 in SCA10 Transgenic
	Mouse Brain
Figure 4-8:	Alternative Splicing of GlyR $\alpha$ 2 and GABA <sub>A</sub> R $\gamma$ 2 in SCA1050
Figure 4-9:	Alternative Splicing of Other Nova Targets in SCA1051
Figure 5-1:	SCA10 Phenotype of Transgenic Mouse Expressing AUUCU RNA
	Repeat in Brain
Figure 5-2:	mIPSC (miniature inhibitory postsynaptic current) in Purkinje Cells of
	Wild Type and Transgenic Mice61
Figure 5-3:	Cumulative Probability on the Amplitude and Inter-event Interval of
	mIPSCs in Wild Type and Transgenic Mice62

Figure 5-4:	The Amplitude and Frequency of mIPSCs in Wild Type and Transgenic				
	Mice				
Figure 5-5:	mIPSCs after Treatment of Biculculline (GABA inhibitor) or Strychnine (Glycine inhibitor) in Purkinje Cells of SCA10 Mice				
Figure 5-6:	The Amplitude and Frequency of mIPSCs of Purkinje Cells after Bicuculline Treatment in Transgenic Mouse67				
Figure 5-7:	The Amplitude and Frequency of mIPSCs of Purkinje Cells after				
	Surychinne Treatment in Transgenic Mouse				

## List of Abbreviations

ADCAs	Autosomal dominant cerebellar ataxias			
BEAN	Brain expressed, associated with Nedd4			
c-JNK2	c-Jun N-terminal kinase			
CNS	Central nervous system			
DM1	Myotonic dystrophy type 1			
DM2	Myotonic dystrophy type 2			
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid			
DRPLA	Dentatorubral-pallidoluisian atrophy			
EMSA	Electrophoretic mobility shift assay			
FISH	Fluorescence in situ hybridization			
FRDA	Friedreich's ataxia			
FXN	Frataxin			
GABA	gamma-Aminobutyric acid			
GFP	Green fluorescent protein			
hnRNPA	Heterogeneous ribonucleoprotein particle A			
hnRNPK	Heterogeneous ribonucleoprotein particle K			
KH domain	K Homology domain			
КО	Knock-out			
LOX-15	15-Lipoxygenase			
MBNL1	Muscleblind-like			
mIPSC	miniature inhibitory postsynaptic current			

NMDA	N-Methyl-D-aspartic acid
PAGE	Polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
РКС	Protein kinase C
Poly-Q	Poly-glutamine
POMA	Paraneoplastic opsoclonus-myoclonus ataxia
RT-PCR	Reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction
RNA	Ribonucleic acid
SBMA	Spinal-bulbar muscular atrophy
siRNA	small interfering RNA
TK2	Thymidine kinase 2
TTX	Tetrodotoxin
UTR	Untranslated region

#### **CHAPTER 1: BACKGROUND**

# MICROSATELLITE REPEAT INSTABILITY AND HUMAN GENETIC DISORDERS

Microsatellite repeat length polymorphism is a genetic phenomenon that describes the presence of variable numbers of tandemly repeated nucleotide sequences throughout eukaryotic genomes (Jeffreys et al. 1985). These nucleotide repeats consist of varying number of repeat units (mono-, di-, tri-, tetra-, penta- and hexa-nucleotide repeats), and are present at specific loci in all human chromosomes. Importantly, the integrity and lengths of these repeats in alleles are strictly maintained in the genome, and remain unaltered throughout the life-span of a healthy individual. However, the functional significance of the presence of these repeats in specific loci in human genomes remains unclear. Recent studies have established that the microsatellite repeats become highly unstable at certain genomic DNA loci, and repeat numbers often expand, resulting in different human genetic disorders. Specific microsatellite repeat sequences become highly unstable in one of the alleles, and invariably expand in these diseases. A large number of clinical and experimental studies support the idea that expansion of such repeated DNA sequences is the primary cause of this novel class of genetic disorders. The molecular basis of repeat instability, the mechanism by which these repeats expand in human genome, and specifically how expansion of repeats leads to disease phenotypes is a subject of intense investigation. Furthermore, analyses of patient genomic DNA have revealed that the repeat number in the mutant allele expands in small increments during each mitotic cell division in all somatic tissues, and greatly expand during germ line transmission from one generation to the next, in many of repeat expansion disorders. In this novel class of microsatellite repeat expansion-associated genetic disorders, extreme

instability of the microsatellite repeats often results in massive expansions of these repeats, and such expansions contribute to the pathogenic mechanism of this unique and heterogeneous group of genetic disorders.

Since 1991, when instability and expansion of CAG tri-nucleotide repeat in the androgen receptor gene was first found in spinal bulbar muscular atrophy (SBMA) (La Spada et al. 1991), a large number of human diseases have been identified that are characterized by expanded microsatellite repeat sequences in the disease-associated genes. These repeats typically consist of tri-, tetra-, penta-, or even hexa-nucleotide repeats, within the transcription unit of the respective disease gene. At present, there are over 40 human genetic diseases that are recognized as being caused by the instability of microsatellite repeat sequences. Unstable tri-nucleotide repeat sequences are known to be the most common microsatellite repeats as the primary cause of these disorders. Other nucleotide sequences consisting of tetra- and penta-nucleotide repeats have also been found to expand at various genomic DNA loci, leading to diseases such as myotonic dystrophy type 2 (DM2) (Christina et al. 2001), and spinocerebellar ataxia type 10 (SCA10) (Matsuura et al. 2002), respectively.

Each microsatellite repeat expansion-associated disease has distinctive clinical features, but neurological defects are the most typical findings noted in most of the known conditions. In addition, the majority of these diseases follow the general rule of anticipation (La Spada et al. 1994). Importantly, these diseases do not follow the classical Mendelian pattern of genetic inheritance, because the severity and age of onset of the disease increases from one generation to the next. The general consequence of this phenomenon is that the more severe symptoms as well as the earlier onset of disease occur in the next generation.

Paulson et al. (1996) first suggested a classification method for these diseases based on the repeat location in the respective genes (Figure 1-1), where they were divided into 2 groups: type 1 and type 2 (Paulson et al. 1996).



#### Figure 1-1. Repeat Expansion Diseases.

In 1996, Paulson et al. suggested a classification method for these diseases based on the repeat location in the respective genes. Initially seven trinucleotide repeat diseases were divided into 2 groups, type 1 and 2. There have been significant growing in numbers of repeat expansion disease afterward which includes tetra-, penta-, and hexa- nucleotide repeats.

Currently repeat expansion diseases are classified into type 1, 2 and 3. Diseases with expanded repeats within the coding region (exons) are classified as type 1. These disorders are further sub-categorized into type 1a, caused by an extended CAG repeat

sequence, encoding a stretch of poly-glutamine (poly-Q) tract; and type 1b, caused by an expanded GCN or GCG sequence, encoding poly-alanine sequences in the mutant protein. Diseases where there are expanded repeats either in the 5' or 3' untranslated regions (UTRs) of the disease genes are classified as type 2. Fragile X syndromes and spinocerebellar ataxia type 12 (SCA12) have expanded repeats within the 5' UTR of the mutant genes. Myotonic dystrophy type 1 (DM1) and spinocerebellar ataxia type 8 (SCA8) are typical examples of diseases wherein repeat expansions occurring within the 3' UTR of the disease genes. Diseases wherein repeat expansions occur within the intronic sequences of the mutant genes are categorized as type 3, and myotonic dystrophy type 2 (DM2), Friedreich ataxia (FRDA) and spinocerebellar ataxia 10 (SCA10) are examples of type 3 disease.

Several possible mechanisms by which expansion of microsatellite repeats cause extensive cellular toxicity and complex disease phenotypes have been proposed. Accumulating evidence suggests that either the gain- or loss-of-function of the mutant genes, associated with the repeat expansions, contribute to the pathogenic mechanisms (Cummings et al. 2000; Todd et al. 2010). Whether abnormal expansion occurs within the coding or non-coding region of the disease genes was initially thought to determine the pattern of these diseases. For instance, in a recessively inherited, non-coding expansion disorder such as Friedreich ataxia (FRDA), the loss of-function mutation plays a dominant role in the pathogenic mechanism of the disease. In FRDA, expansion of the GAA triplet repeats occurs in the first intron of the *frataxin (FXN)* gene (Campuzano et al. 1996; Lodi et al. 2006; Kumari et al. 2012). The expanded GAA-TTC repeat sequences have been shown to adopt unusual or non-B-DNA structures, e.g., either sticky DNA (Sakamoto et al. 1999; Clark et al. 2004) or purine-purine-pyrimidine or pyrimidine-purine-pyrimidine type of triple helix DNA structures *in vitro* (Marappan et al. 1999). Various studies support the hypothesis that the expanded GAA-TTC repeat

sequences and/or DNA secondary structures formed by these repeats seriously affect the movement of the RNA polymerase over the template DNA, eventually resulting in marked suppression of the *FXN* gene transcription. In fact, these pathogenic non-B-DNA structures have been shown to inhibit progression of RNA polymerase or transcription factors over the template DNA in vivo (Bidichandani et al. 1998). Furthermore, these extended sequences and/or structures have also been shown to interact with splicing factors e.g., hnRNPA1 or hnRNPA2, and disturb splicing of the *FXN* gene, resulting in mis-splicing and rapid degradation of the *FXN* mRNA (Baralle et al. 2008). Importantly, recent studies also indicate that massive expansion of the GAA sequences results in significant modification of chromatin composition- histone modification, and marked increase in DNA methylation leading to silencing of the mutant gene (Al-Mahdawi et al. 2008; Soragni et al. 2008; Castaldo et al. 2008; Kim et al. 2011). From these key findings, FRDA has been categorized as a non-coding repeat disease with loss-of-function mutation.

In contrast, repeat expansions in the coding region, commonly dominantlyinherited, follows a different path of destiny. The expanded repeat sequences encode lengthy stretches of amino acids, which lead to various pathogenic consequences. For instance, the expanded CAG repeats in the poly-Q diseases (Table 1-1) encode a lengthy tract of glutamines in a product of the respective gene, producing a mutant protein (Zoghbi et al. 2000). The mutant protein encoding elongated poly-Q tracts tends to misfold, causes cellular toxicity and invariably forms insoluble aggregates or inclusion bodies. The mutant poly-Q proteins misfold and also induce misfolding of other proteins that are found in the ubiquitin-positive inclusions (Chen et al. 2002). The production of toxic oligomers (Nagai et al. 2007; Takahashi et al. 2008) or interactions with other cellular proteins might contribute to the pathology of the Poly-Q diseases (Lim et al. 2008). Accumulating evidence suggests that aberrant folding and intermolecular proteinprotein interaction ultimately results in the gain-of-function of the mutant proteins, and loss or diminished function of the proteins that interact with the mutant Poly-Q proteins. The molecular mechanisms of the poly-Q diseases are still being widely investigated, but the altered biophysical properties of the mutant proteins containing the expanded poly-Q stretch underlie the central pathogenesis of the gain-of-function mutation in poly-Q diseases.

Disease	Protein Name	Poly-Q positions and Disease Repeat Range		Protein Name Poly-Q positions and Protein function Disease Repeat Range Protein function		Protein function
SBMA	Androgen Receptor	40-62	Normal=9-36	Testosterone-activated steroid receptor		
HD	Huntingtin	36-121	Normal=10-35	Scaffolding protein linked to diverse Cellular pathways		
DRPLA	Atrophin-1	49-88	Normal=6-35	Possible transcription co-repressor		
SCA1	Ataxin-1	39-91	Normal=6-35	Transcriptional co-repressor involved In cell specification & synaptic activity		
SCA2	Ataxin-2	Normal=14-32 32-200		RNA processing & translational regulation		
SCA3	Ataxin-3	<b>52-86</b>	Normal=12-40	Deubiquitinating enzyme involved In protein quality control		
SCA6	Calcium Channel Subunit 1A	Normal=4-19 20-33		Voltage-sensitive Calcium Channel subunit		
SCA7	Ataxin-7	34-300	Normal=7-17	Component of HAT complex (TFTC/STAGA) & transcriptional regulation		
SCA17	TATA-Box-binding protein	47-63	Normal=25-42	Component of core transcriptional complex TFIID		

Table 1-1. Poly-glutamine (Poly-Q) Diseases.

A large number of recent studies suggest that the pathogenic mechanism of noncoding repeat disorders e.g., type 1 or 2 myotonic dystrophies do not follow either simple loss- or gain-of-function mutation of the disease gene (Ranum et al. 2006; O'Sborne et al. 2006; O'Rourke et al. 2009; Cooper et al. 2009). The expanded CTG and CCTG repeat sequences in myotonic dystrophy type 1 and 2 are located in the 3' UTR and intronic sequences of DMPK and ZNF9 genes, respectively. A large number of recent studies have established that these non-coding repeats in DM1 or DM2 contribute to the development of some overlapping and also distinct and unique pathology in the manifestation of the disease phenotypes. The extended repeat tracts are known to confer high toxicity to the respective mutant mRNAs, and this phenomenon is now commonly referred to as 'toxic RNAs gain-of-function.' A large number of studies support the hypothesis that the mutant CUG and CCUG RNAs in DM1 and DM2 contribute, at least in part, to the development of complex and multi-systemic phenotypes in DM1 and DM2 (Mastroyiannopoulos et al. 2010) (Please refer to RNA-mediated pathogenic mechanisms in DM1/DM2 in Chapter 2). However, the mechanism by which the expanded CUG RNA inflicts degenerative and dystrophic defects in DM1 remains unknown and definitely needs further investigation. It is also not clear why DM2 with its massive CCTG repeat expansions shows milder and less severe phenotypes compared to DM1, presenting relatively shorter CTG repeat expansions.

As described above, SCA10 belongs to a microsatellite repeat-expansionassociated disorder wherein the expansion of a penta-nucleotide repeat expansion occurs within the intron of *ATXN*10 gene. The mechanism by which intronic repeat expansion causes SCA10 pathology is largely unknown.

#### AUTOSOMAL DOMINANT CEREBELLAR ATAXIA

From the clinical perspective, SCA10 belongs to a heterogeneous group of disorders, which are collectively known as autosomal dominant cerebellar ataxias (ADCAs) or spinocerebellar ataxias (SCAs) (Koeppen et al, 2005) (Table 1-2). The ADCAs are typically difficult to distinguish from each other based on the clinical

findings themselves. The prevalence of these types of inherited ataxias is reported as 3.5 per 100,000 to 8.5 per 100,000, according to several studies (Jin et al. 1999; Tang et al. 2000).

Disorder	Location	Gene	Mutation		Clinical Features
SCA1	6p23	SCA1	CAG	Poly-Q	EPS, Neuropathy
SCA2	12p24	SCA2	CAG	Poly-Q	EPS, Neuropathy
SCA3	14q32.1	SCA3	CAG	Poly-Q	EPS
SCA6	19p13	CACNA 1A	CAG	Poly-Q	Prominent cerebellar findings
SCA7	3p14	SCA7	CAG	Poly-Q	Retina degeneration, Hearing loss
SCA8	13q21	Unknown	СТБ	3' UTR	Sensory neuropathy
SCA10	22q13	SCA10	ATTCT	Intronic	Seizure
SCA12	5q31	PPP2R2B	CAG	5' UTR	EPS, Neuropathy
SCA17	6q27	TBP	CAG	Poly-Q	EPS, Psychosis, MR, seizure
SCA31	16q22.1	BEAN, TK2	TGGAA	Intronic	Prominent cerebellar findings
SCA36	20p13	NOP56	GGCCTG	Intronic	Motor neuron signs
DRPLA	12p13.31	DRPLA	CAG	Poly-Q	Myoclonic epilepsy, chorea

Table 1-2. Spinocerebellar Ataxia (SCAs) or Autosomal Dominant Cerebellar Ataxia (ADCAs) Caused by Microsatellite

EPS indicates extrapyramidal syndrome. MR indicates mental retardation.

In addition to thorough clinical characterization, genetic analyses such as linkage and mutation analyses have been used extensively to distinctly categorize the subtypes of the SCAs. For example, SCA types 1, 2, 3, 6, 7, and 17 have expanded CAG trinucleotide repeats (Globas et al. 2008). SCA type 8 and SCA12 have been identified as type 2 tri-nucleotide repeat disorders containing non-coding tri-nucleotide repeats within the transcription unit of the disease genes (Koob et al. 1999; Holemes et al. 1999). Additionally, several SCAs show some characteristic clinical features, such as retinopathy in SCA7 (Lindbald et al. 1996), Parkinsonism in SCA2, 3, and 17 ((Lu et al. 2004; Klockgether 2007), and seizure in SCA 10, 17, and DRPLA (Grewal et al. 2002; Pfeiffer et al. 1990). Focal epilepsy (Tan et al. 2004) and retinitis pigmentosa (Rufa et al. 2002) were also reported in patients with SCA 2.

The spinocerebellar ataxias are pathologically characterized by degeneration of specific neurons within the cerebellum, with or without its connecting structures (Koeppen et al. 2005). In several of the SCAs, the pathologic changes involve the basal ganglia or long tracts such as corticospinal tract or posterior column. Clinically, patients with ADCA present with progressive ataxia involving gait, articulation and eye movements, variable degree of brainstem dysfunction such as bulbar palsy or parkinsonian symptoms.

Historically, prior to deciphering the genetic etiology of ADCAs, the classification of these conditions was confounding. Harding et al. in 1988 initially developed an authoritative classification according to clinical findings and pathology for the diseases (Harding 1988). Autosomal dominant cerebellar ataxia characterized by cerebellar-plus-brainstem syndrome is classified as type 1, which for example includes SCA 1 to 4, 8, and 17. Autosomal dominant cerebellar ataxia with a progressive cerebellar-plus-brainstem-plus-retinopathy is grouped into type 2, which corresponds to

SCA 7. ADCA with a "pure cerebellar" syndrome is defined as type 3, which for example includes SCA 5, 6, and 10. Currently, genetic categorization takes the place of Harding's classification.

#### INTRONIC MICROSATELLITE REPEAT EXPANSIONS, AUTOSOMAL DOMINANT CEREBELLAR ATAXIAS (ADCAS) AND SPINOCEREBELLAR ATAXIA TYPE 10

As described above, SCA10 belongs to a class of neurodegenerative disorders which are categorized as type 3 microsatellite repeat expansion disorders, and also as type 3 ADCAs. It is a unique type of neurodegenerative disease both clinically and genetically, due to the fact that the patient with SCA10 presents with seizure in addition to pancerebellar ataxia, and it has a large intronic penta-nucleotide expansion of ATTCT repeats in the ATXN10 gene on chromosome 22q13.1 (Matsuura et al. 2000). In addition to the ATTCT repeat expansions in SCA10, another novel penta-nucleotide repeat expansion has recently been reported to be the disease causing mutation in spinocerebellar ataxia type 31 (SCA 31) (Sato et al, 2009; Sakai et al. 2010). The underlying mutation in SCA31 was found to be a fairly large expansion (varies in the range of 2.5 to 3.8 kb) of complex penta-nucleotide repeats containing (TGGAA)n, (TAGAA)n, and (TAAAA)n in the intronic region shared by 2 different genes, BEAN (brain expressed, associated with Nedd4) and TK2 (thymidine kinase 2), on chromosome 16q22.1 (Sato et al. 2009). Among the 3 different penta-nucleotide repeats, the TGGAA was the only repeat in which large repeats segregated with the phenotype, suggesting the importance of expanded TGGAA repeats in the SCA31 pathogenic mechanism. Gel electrophoretic mobility-shift assay (EMSA) showed that essential splicing factors, serine/arginine-rich splicing factors SFRS1 and SFRS9, bind to expanded (UGGAA)n sequences in vitro. However, whether these splicing factors are sequestered by the mutant UGGAA repeats in vivo, and such aberrant RNA-protein interactions result in

inappropriate splicing and whether aberrant splicing contributes to the disease phenotypes is yet to be established. Also it is not clear whether expanded repeats interact with additional RNA-binding proteins and contribute to the pathogenic mechanism of SCA31. Development of an appropriate fly and/or animal model should provide key insight into the pathophysiology of SCA31.

Importantly, a recent discovery has shown that large expansions of a novel GGCCTG hexa-nucleotide repeats within the intronic region of the NOP56 gene is the disease causing mutation in hereditary spinocerebellar ataxia type 36 (SCA 36) (Kobayashi et al. 2011). Analyses of lymphoblast cells from patients with SCA36 showed the presence of GGCCUG RNA aggregates or foci similar to the RNA foci observed in DM1 or DM2 cells (Kobayashi et al. 2011). Presence of GGCCUG RNA foci in SCA36 patients' cells suggests that this disease might also be one of the RNAgain-of-function diseases. Furthermore, presence of RNA processing/splicing factors such as SRSF2 in the GGCCUG foci in patients cells strongly suggest that protein sequestration by the mutant RNA and associated splicing abnormalities probably contribute to the pathogenic mechanism in SCA36. Moreover, identification of the full spectra of RNA-binding proteins that interact with the expanded GGCCUG RNA in vivo and are sequestered into the GGCCUG aggregates or foci will be essential and of paramount importance to obtain important insight into the pathophysiology of SCA36. Development of a fly or mouse model will be very critical to delineate the mechanistic insight into the pathophysiology of SCA36.

These recently identified cerebellar ataxias e.g., SCA31 and SCA36 are now considered to be in the class of a growing number of toxic RNA diseases that exhibit RNA-mediated gain-of-function mechanisms such as myotonic dystrophies type 1 and 2, SCA8, SCA10, and fragile X-tremor ataxia syndromes.

#### **CLINICAL DESCRIPTION OF SCA10**

In 1998, Grewal et al. first described a distinct form of SCA in several Mexican families. They reported a novel autosomal dominant cerebellar ataxia which was characterized by dysarthria, gait and limb ataxia, and nystagmus without any major brainstem or long-tract abnormalities (Grewal et al. 1998). They excluded any preexisting diagnoses of SCA1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, and 7 in these patients by both mutation and genetic linkage analysis.

In 1999, Matsuura et al. analyzed four generations of Mexican family members, who were clinically characterized by pure pancerebellar ataxia, and for the first time reported the existence of a previously unknown form of ataxia in the affected individuals (Matsuura et al. 1999). Interestingly, presence of seizure was also described as part of the clinical presentation in this form of SCA with two affected individuals. Careful genetic analyses excluded the possibility of the existence of other forms of established ataxias in these patients. These two key findings by Grewal et al. (1998) and Matsuura et al. (1999) were seminal in delineating the inheritance pattern in this novel type of motor coordination disease and was designated as spinocerebellar ataxia type 10 (SCA10) (Matsuura et al. 2000).

In 1999, Zu et al. and Matsuura et al, independentely localized the candidate gene of this new form of SCA in chromosome 22, and designated it as *ATXN10* gene (Zu et al. 1999; Matsuura et al. 2000). The genomic DNA analysis indicated that *ATXN10* is comprised of 12 exons spanning a 172.8 kb region, and is translated into a 745-amino acid protein which was designated as ataxin-10. *ATXN10* is known to be expressed in various tissues, but the expression is the highest in the brain, heart, and muscle. In a landmark discovery in early 2000, Matsuura et al. used genetic analyses to show the occurrence of expanded microsatellite repeats in the *ATXN10* gene (Matsuura et al. 2000). Matsuura et al. investigated the possibility of the presence of microsatellite repeats in *ATXN10* gene since numerous previous reports had revealed the presence of expanded CAG repeat sequences in various SCA subtypes such as SCA 1, 2, 3, 6 and 7 and these disorders showed a similar inheritance pattern to SCA10 (Matsuura et al. 2000).

#### **EXPANSION OF INTRONIC ATTCT MICROSATELLITE REPEATS IN SCA10**

In a ground breaking discovery, a unique and fairly large ATTCT pentanucleotide repeat expansion was identified in intron 9 of the *ATXN10* gene in all patients with SCA10 from five Mexican families (Matsuura et al. 2000). Moreover, the pathological range of the ATTCT repeats was determined by subsequent sequence analysis, which revealed the presence of 10 to 32 ATTCT repeats in the normal individuals, and >800 ATTCT repeats in the affected individuals with SCA10 (Matsuura et al. 2006).

In the following year, analysis of additional 18 patients with SCA10 from four Mexican families by Rasmussen et al. (2001) not only confirmed the initial clinical and genetic findings by Matsuura et al. (2000), but also indicated that the pathogenic numbers of ATTCT repeats in SCA10 patients are large and range from 920 to 4140. (Rasmussen et al. 2001). This study also determined the mean age of onset of clinical signs, generally occurring in the mid-twenties. Notably in this study, generalized or complex partial seizures were reported in 13 individuals out of 18, where they failed to describe any evidence of extracerebellar abnormalities on clinical evaluation and imaging studies that can account for seizure. Importantly, seizures have been known to contribute

significantly to the morbidity and mortality of this disease, but the mechanism by which the ATTCT repeat expansion in SCA10 leads to the development of seizure remains largely unknown.

#### ATAXIN-10

Human ATXN10 gene consists of 12 exons and is 172.8 kb in length, which encodes the protein of ataxin-10. The normal physiological function of ataxin-10 is still unknown, and requires further investigation. Ataxin-10 belongs to the family of armadillo repeat proteins and in solution it tends to form homotrimeric complexes, which associate via a tip-to-tip association in a horseshoe-shaped contact with the concave sides of the molecules facing each other. The predominant location of ataxin-10 within cell is known to be cytoplasmic and predominantly expressed in the brain, heart and skeletal muscles. A previous study by Marz et al. revealed that targeted inactivation of ATXN10 in neuronal cells (by treating neuronal cells with ATXN10 siRNA) resulted in increased apoptotic death of the primary cerebellar neurons (Marz et al. 2004). The reason why down-regulation of ATXN10 resulted in neuronal death is not yet understood and definitely needs further investigation. Another study by Waragai et al. (2006) demonstrated that over-expression of the ATXN10 gene facilitated neurite extension in the PC12 cells (Waragai et al. 2006). However, the detailed molecular mechanism by which ectopic expression of ATXN10 facilitated neurite extension in cultured neuronal cells is not clear. Together, these studies did not clearly establish whether altered or diminished function of Ataxin-10, due to ATTCT repeat expansion, contributes to SCA10 pathogenic mechanism.

#### THE PATHOGENIC MECHANISMS OF SCA10

#### TRANSCRIPTION OF THE MUTANT ATXN10 GENE IN SCA10

The genetic mutations in several microsatellite repeats expansion disorders are the expansion of CAG tri-nucleotide repeat sequences within the coding region of the mutant genes. The extended CAG sequences in the processed transcripts are translated into poly glutamine (poly-Q) tract proteins. The mutant proteins containing extended poly-Q sequences invariably misfold, induce misfolding of other proteins, and form toxic protein-protein aggregates. Collectively, these disorders are known as Poly-Q diseases and the extended poly-Q sequences are the primary toxic entity in these disorders, and contribute to the pathogenic mechanism. Because the expanded ATTCT repeat tract in SCA10 was found to be located in the non-coding region (intron 9) of the ATXN10 gene, the possibility that the repeat is translated to produce a mutant toxic protein was ruled out. In the case of DM1, the expanded CTG repeats have been shown to form highly condensed chromatin structures, and cause transcriptional silencing of the neighboring genes. To address this possibility in the SCA10 pathogenic mechanism, Wakamiya et al. (2006) investigated the effect of the ATTCT repeat expansion on the transcription and processing of the ATXN10 and genes that flank the ATXN10 locus (Wakamiya et al. 2006). Analyses of the steady state transcript levels of ATXN10 and neighboring genes indicated that expression of ATXN10 and its neighboring genes remain unaltered in SCA10. The analyses revealed that the mutant *ATXN10* allele is transcribed efficiently and the pre-mRNA containing an expanded AUUCU repeat is spliced normally. These findings ruled out the possibility that massive expansions of ATTCT repeats in the ATXN10 locus causes transcriptional silencing of the neighboring genes and contributes to the disease phenotypes in SCA10.

#### HAPLOINSUFFICIENCY OF ATNX10

The early hypothesis was that massive expansion of ATTCT repeats resulted in the silencing of the *ATXN10* mutant allele and haploinsufficiency of *ATXN10* contributes to SCA10 pathogenic mechanism. To test this possibility, and to establish whether loss of *ATXN10* function contributes to SCA10 pathogenesis, the *ATNX10* mutant mouse line was generated by Wakamiya et al. (2006). As the homozygous deletion of *ATXN10* caused embryonic lethality, it was not possible to examine the extent to which complete loss of *ATXN10* function contributes to SCA10 pathology in the adult mouse. Heterozygous deletion of *ATXN10* produced viable mice. Importantly, the heterozygous *ATXN10* adult mice failed to recapitulate any detectable SCA10-like motor phenotypes. This study supported the hypothesis that the haploinsufficiency of *ATXN10* gene due to massive expansion of ATTCT repeats might not be the underlying mechanism involved in SCA10 pathogenesis (Wakamiya et al. 2006).

# EFFECT OF MASSIVE ATTCT REPEAT EXPANSION ON THE TRANSCRIPTION OF THE NEIGHBORING GENES THAT FLANK THE MUTANT ATXN10 LOCUS

To exclude the possibility that the expanded ATTCT repeat in SCA10 affects the transcription of genes that are present on either side of the mutant *ATXN10* gene locus, the levels of expression of the genes flanking the *ATXN10* locus were determined in cells from SCA10 patients. The real time RT-PCR analyses of the total RNA from SCA10 cells showed that there was no consistent change in the level of the neighboring gene transcripts in SCA10 compared to normal samples. This finding indicated that massive ATTCT repeat expansion does not affect the expression of the neighboring genes that flank the *ATXN10* locus (Wakamiya et al. 2006). These analyses ruled out the possibility that massive expansion of ATTCT repeats in the 9th intron of *ATXN10* gene causes transcriptional silencing of neighboring genes and contributes to SCA10 pathology. Both RT-PCR and Western blot analyses supported the idea that massive ATTCT repeat expansion did not alter the steady state level of *ATXN10* mRNA levels in SCA10.

As we have discussed above, the studies described thus far have failed to establish how the clinical features of this dominantly inherited ataxia could be caused by the massive expansion of intronic penta-nucleotide AUUCU repeat sequences. In the present study, in conjunction with our previous report in 2010 (White et al. 2010), which will be briefly presented in Chapter 2, we investigated the possible mechanisms by which a highly expanded non-coding ATTCT repeat can cause neurodegeneration, and give rise to the unique phenotype of SCA10.

#### **CHAPTER 2: HYPOTHESIS AND SPECIFIC AIMS**

Spinocerebellar ataxia type 10 (SCA10) is a non-coding repeat expansion genetic disorder of unknown molecular pathophysiology. SCA10 is known to be the second most common autosomal dominant cerebellar ataxia in Mexico and Brazil. The patients with SCA10 present with a gait abnormality, which is usually followed by pancerebellar ataxia and rapidly progressed to complete disability (Ashizawa 2006; Rasmussen et al. 2001; Teive et al. 2004). About 60% of Mexican patients with SCA10 develop epilepsy, particularly complex partial or generalized seizures, which may potentially lead to lifethreatening status epilepticus (Grewal et al. 2002; Rasmussen et al. 2001). The genetic mutation which is known to cause SCA10 is the massive expansion of an ATTCT pentanucleotide repeat sequence. It is present within the 9th intron of the Ataxin-10 (ATXN10) gene on chromosome 22q13.31 (Matsuura et al. 2000). The ATTCT repeat is polymorphic in length, with the number of repeats in normal individuals ranging from 10 to 29, and the repeat lengths in the two alleles might be the same or different. In contrast, the repeat length in one of the ATXN10 alleles in patients with SCA10 is expanded up to 4,500 repeats, whereas the intermediate allele sizes vary in the range of 280-850 repeats (Matsuura et al. 2006; Raskin et al. 2007). Thus the SCA10 repeat expansion represents one of the largest microsatellite expansions known to occur within the human genome. The mechanisms by which the non-coding ATTCT repeat expansion leads to degeneration and dysfunction of the nervous system in SCA10 needs to be more clearly understood in order to develop a rational molecular approach to therapy. In recent studies, several neurodegenerative diseases have been found to have non-coding expanded repeats as the genetic etiology, similar to SCA10.

# RNA-MEDIATED PATHOGENIC MECHANISMS IN MYOTONIC DYSTROPHY TYPE 1 AND 2

The underlying pathogenic mechanism(s) of the non-coding microsatellite repeat expansion-associated genetic diseases e.g., Myotonic dystrophy types 1 and type 2 (DM1 and DM2) are being extensively studied (Mastroyiannopoulos et al. 2010; Ashizawa 2012). The disease causing mutation in DM1 is the expansion of polymorphic CTG trinucleotide repeats in the 3' untranslated region (UTR) of the protein kinase gene *DMPK* (Mahadevan et al. 1992). In contrast, the mutation in DM2 is the massive expansion of CCTG tetra-nucleotide repeats within the 1st intron of the *ZNF9* gene (Christina et al. 2001).

A large number of recent studies support the hypothesis that the expanded CTG and CCTG sequences are transcribed and the expanded CUG and CCUG sequences, encoded in the mutant *DMPK* and *ZNF9* transcripts in DM1 and DM2 respectively, are deposited as insoluble aggregates or foci in the affected tissues (Taneja et al. 1995; Davis et al. 1997). Subsequent studies have shown that the insoluble aggregates, are, in fact, the RNA-protein complexes formed by the elongated CUG and CCUG RNA with various RNA-binding proteins. The "RNA gain of function" model for DM1 and DM2 suggests that the mutant transcripts encoding the extended repeat sequences are the primary toxic molecules in the pathogenic mechanisms. According to this novel hypothesis, these mutant transcripts elicit pathogenicity by binding and sequestering specific RNA-processing factors, and either loss or diminished function of the proteins that complex with the mutant repeat-containing RNA eventually lead to the manifestation of the DM1/DM2 phenotypes.

In our recent study, we have shown that the expanded ATTCT-repeats, encoded in the mutant *ATXN10* allele, are efficiently transcribed and spliced out. The spliced out

introns containing extended AUUCU repeats remain unprocessed, and form the RNAprotein complexes. These complexes are deposited as insoluble aggregates in the cytosol and nuclei in SCA10 cells (White et al. 2010). From the perspective that the expanded CUG/CCUG repeats are highly toxic and play crucial toxic roles in the pathophysiology of DM1/DM2 (Mastroyiannopoulos et al. 2010), we postulated that the mutant AUUCU sequences present in the spliced out introns might be toxic and contribute to the pathogenic mechanism. Therefore we investigated the possible trans-dominant toxic effect of the expanded AUUCU RNA repeats which might also form complexes with specific RNA-binding proteins, and the loss-of-function of the sequestered proteins contribute to SCA10 pathogenesis.

We performed RNA FISH analyses of the SCA10 fibroblasts with an antisense RNA probe against the expanded AUUCU repeats and demonstrated that the AUUCU-containing nuclear/intracellular RNA foci are indeed deposited in the SCA10 fibroblasts. Based on this finding, we hypothesized that the expanded AUUCU RNA repeats play an important role in the pathogenic mechanism of SCA10.

# THE ROLE OF THE MUTANT AUUCU RNA IN THE PATHOGENIC MECHANISM OF SCA10

#### Expanded AUUCU repeats form discrete aggregates or foci in SCA10 cells

To determine whether expanded AUUCU RNA form aggregates or foci in SCA10 cells, we performed RNA FISH analysis using a Cy-3-labelled (AGAAU)5 antisense RNA probe. We first stained SCA10 fibroblasts with the Cy-3-labeled antisense probe and found widespread occurrence of AUUCU-containing nuclear/intracellular RNA foci in SCA10 cells (Figure 2-1). With this finding, we hypothesized that AUUCU-containing
RNA foci might harbor specific RNA-binding proteins as has been observed in cases of other microsatellite-expansion-related diseases e.g., DM1 and DM2.

#### Identification of the proteins that complex with the expanded AUUCU RNA repeats

Previously, in order to identify the RNA-binding proteins that might be sequestered into the AUUCU RNA aggregates or foci, we performed RNA pull down assay and analyzed the pulleddown proteins by mass spectrometry. In this procedure, we first synthesized a biotinlabeled AUUUCU RNA (~500 using T7 RNA repeats) а polymerase in vitro RNA synthesis kit (Roche) as we described previously (White et al. 2010). We next incubated the biotin-labeled (AUUCU)5 RNA oligomer with total protein extract from mouse brain and then pulled down the AUUCU-RNA-protein complexes



#### Figure 2-1. RNA foci in SCA10 cells.

RNA fluorescence *in situ* hybridization (FISH) shows nuclear/intracellular AUUCU foci (red) along with nuclei (blue) in fibroblasts from patients with spinocerebellar ataxia type 10 (SCA10). RNA foci are detected, using Cy-3-labelled (AGAAU)<sub>5</sub> antisense RNA probe, and nuclei are stained with 4,6 diamino-2-phenylindole dihydrochloride (DAPI). Scale bar represents 10  $\mu$ m.

with magnetic bead-coated streptavidin. The proteins that were pulled down along with the biotin-labeled AUUCU RNA, but not with control RNA, were analyzed by mass spectrometry. Using this methodology, we identified a known RNA-binding protein, hnRNPK which was repeatedly and reproducibly precipitated with the AUUCU RNA but not with the control RNA (White et al. 2010). Subsequently we showed that hnRNPK is present within the AUUCU aggregates in the SCA10 transgenic mouse brain and in SH-SY5Y neuroblastoma cells ectopically expressing ~500 AUUCU repeats (White et al. 2010). Our results showed that the mutant AUUCU-RNA has a highly specific and strong binding affinity for hnRNPK. Furthermore, we demonstrated that sequestration of hnRNPK into the AUUCU aggregates leads to apoptotic neuronal death via intracellular translocation of PKC delta into mitochondria (White et al. 2010).

#### Sequestration of AUUCU RNA-binding protein in SCA10 brain

In the previous study, however, we could not exclude the possibility that in addition to hnRNPK, additional RNA-binding proteins having high sequence or structural homology with hnRNPK, might also complex with the mutant AUUCU RNA and thus might be sequestered into the aggregates in SCA10 brain. We postulated that identification of additional AUUCU-RNA-binding proteins might provide important insight into the pathogenic mechanism of SCA10. The most critical sequence/structural motifs that are responsible for the RNA-binding property of hnRNPK are the K-homology (KH)-domains. In the present study, we explored the possibility whether expanded AUUCU RNA sequences complex with and sequester neuronal proteins encoding the homologous RNA-binding KH domains in SCA10 brain and explored whether this aberrant RNA-protein interaction might contribute to complex SCA10 pathology.

To achieve this goal, we used in vitro cell culture SCA10 models (human neuroblastoma SH-SY5Y cells transiently expressing various lengths of expanded AUUCU repeats), a SCA10 transgenic mouse line expressing ~500 AUUCU repeats in

brain and a SCA10 patient's postmortem brain tissue to explore the aberrant RNA-protein interactions and delineate the underlying pathophysiology of SCA10. We believe that identifying novel neuronal proteins that complex with mutant AUUCU RNA and thus are sequestered into the AUUCU RNA aggregates not only should provide important insight into the molecular mechanism by which aberrant interaction of AUUCU-RNA with neuronal proteins contribute to neuronal death and neurological deficiencies in SCA10 but also will allow us to develop potential therapeutic approaches aimed at reversing the SCA10 phenotype.

#### HYPOTHESES

We demonstrated that the neuron-specific RNA-binding protein Nova, which encodes three hnRNPK-like RNA-binding K-homology (KH) domains, shows strong and significant affinity for the expanded AUUCU RNA *in vitro*. The goal of this study was to establish whether Nova interacts with mutant AUUCU RNA *in vivo* and thus was sequestered into the AUUCU RNA aggregates or foci in the SCA10 patient's and SCA10 transgenic mouse brains. Our central hypothesis was as following:

<u>The expanded AUUCU sequences encoded in the mutant ATXN10</u> <u>transcripts sequester Nova, which leads to altered or diminished function of Nova.</u> <u>Inactivation or diminished function of Nova, due to its sequestration into the</u> <u>AUUCU RNA foci, results in aberrant splicing of the Nova target genes in SCA10</u> <u>brain. These splicing defects of the Nova target genes regulating</u> <u>electrophysiological properties contribute to the neuronal dysfunction and</u> <u>development of complex neurological phenotype in SCA10</u> (Figure 2-2).

We used several biochemical, biophysical and molecular biological techniques to analyze the neuronal SH-SY5Y cells ectopically expressing ~500 AUUCU repeats, the brain tissue from the SCA10 transgenic mice and SCA10 patient in order to test the hypothesis that sequestration of Nova into the AUUCU RNA aggregates or foci is a major pathogenic mechanism in SCA10 and this aberrant AUUCU-RNA-Nova interaction contributes to neuronal loss and/or development of complex neurological deficiencies in SCA10.



#### Figure 2-2. Central Hypothesis.

The goal of this study is to understand the mechanism by which expanded AUUCU repeat causes ataxia and seizure in SCA10.

### SPECIFIC AIMS

We tested our hypothesis by pursuing the following two specific aims (Figure 2-3).

**Specific Aim 1**: Question 1.

Q1: Dose AUUCU expansion sequester Nova in SCA10?

Specific Aim 2: Question 2.

Q2: What is the pathogenic consequence of Nova sequestration in SCA10?

Specific Aim 2-1:

Q2-1. Is Nova function altered in SCA10?

Specific Aim 2-2:

Q2-2. How does Nova dysfunction contribute to SCA10 phenotype?

### Figure 2-3. Questions in the Specific Aims.

In this study, we investigated the above questions.

Specific Aim 1: Determined that Nova was sequestered into the aggregates or foci formed by the expanded AUUCU RNA repeats in the SCA10 patient's brain, and in SCA10 transgenic mouse brain ectopically expressing ~500 intronic AUUCU repeats

In this specific aim, we used various biochemical and biophysical techniques to determine the binding specificities of Nova with the pathological lengths of AUUCU RNA repeats. We determined whether Nova is present in the AUUCU-RNA-protein aggregates in the SCA10 transgenic mouse brain as well as in SCA10 patients' brain.

#### Specific Aim 2: Demonstrated Nova dysfunction and its pathogenic consequences.

# Specific Aim 2-1: Determined that sequestration of Nova into the AUUCU RNA foci resulted in aberrant splicing of the Nova target genes in SCA10 brain

Nova is known to regulate alternative splicing of several genes that play critical roles in regulating neuronal function, electrophysiological properties and motor coordination. In this aim, we analyzed alternative splicing patterns of several of the known Nova target genes in SH-SY5Y cells transiently expressing various lengths of expanded AUUCU RNA repeats, SCA10 transgenic mouse brain ectopically expressing ~500 AUUCU RNA repeats and in SCA10 patient's brain.

# Specific Aim 2-2: Determined that aberrant splicing of Nova targets led to the development of SCA10-like clinical phenotype

To determine whether aberrant splicing of the Nova target genes leads to the clinical phenotype of SCA10, we tested the neurophysiologic effect(s) as a functional consequence of the expanded AUUCU RNA repeats in the SCA10 transgenic mice.

Clinical manifestations of SCA10 are characterized by pancerebellar ataxia and seizure. We have developed a novel transgenic mouse line expressing a pathogenic length of AUUCU repeats (~500 AUUCU repeats) in brain to evaluate the extent to which expression of expanded AUUCU repeats contributes to the development of SCA10-like neurological defects. In this aim, we characterized the neurophysiologic defects and further explored the molecular pathophysiology of SCA10 to identify a functional neurophysiological consequence of the AUUCU RNA repeat in the SCA10 transgenic mice.

# CHAPTER 3: SPECIFIC AIM 1. ABERRANT INTERACTION OF NEURONAL PROTEIN NOVA WITH MUTANT AUUCU RNA REPEATS

### **INTRODUCTION**

Our recent study showed that the pathogenic lengths of AUUCU RNA sequences complex with a widely-studied RNA-binding protein, hnRNPK and the RNA-protein complexes formed by hnRNPK and AUUCU repeats are deposited as insoluble aggregates in the SCA10 cells (White et al. 2010). Furthermore, our studies provided strong evidence that either loss or diminished function of hnRNPK in SCA10 results in neuronal cell death. Our study suggested that alteration/inactivation of hnRNPK activity via its aberrant interaction with the mutant AUUCU RNA, might contribute to neuronal loss and progressive cerebellar atrophy, one of the important SCA10 phenotypes. However, the mechanism by which the expression of extended AUUCU RNA results in characteristic SCA10 phenotypes e.g., seizure and ataxia needs to be further investigated. In the present study, we focused on identifying additional neuronal proteins that could possibly bind with the mutant AUUCU RNA repeats and contribute to SCA10 pathology. In addition, we investigated whether the newly identified RNA-binding proteins are indeed sequestered into the AUUCU RNA foci in SH-SY5Y cells ectopically expressing ~500 AUUCU repeats, in the SCA10 patient's brain and SCA10 transgenic mouse brain.

#### The nucleic acids-binding motifs in hnRNPK: The K-Homology (KH) nucleic acidbinding domains

The RNA-binding sequence/structural motifs in hnRNPK are known as the hnRNPK homology domain or KH-domain, which was first described in hnRNPK in 1994 (Siomi et al. 1994). There are three distinct KH domains present in hnRNPK and these domains have been recognized as the single-stranded nucleic acid binding motifs. Numerous recent studies show that hnRNPK preferentially binds with the pyrimidine-rich motifs present both in RNA and DNA and is involved in the regulation of a wide range of cellular functions.

The lengths of the KH domains vary from protein to protein and usually consist of 70-100 amino acids that bind to specific pyrimidine-rich nucleotide sequences. The KH domains are primarily found in proteins involved in transcriptional regulation and other intracellular functions. The RNA-binding proteins other than hnRNPK that contain the well-conserved KH domains include vigilin, human FMR1 (Musco et al. 1996), Nova-1 and Nova-2 (Lewis et al. 2000), ribosomal protein 3 (Wimberly et al. 2000), and ERA (Chen et al. 1999).

#### The functional significance of the KH-domains

The KH domains play an important role in RNA binding, as indicated by the study of Siomi et al (Siomi et al. 1994). Siomi et al. showed that a mutation in the KH domain of the FMR1 gene significantly disturbs the RNA binding capacity, which eventually leads to the development of some of the typical phenotype of fragile X syndrome (Siomi et al. 1994).

The most conserved sequence in the KH domain is designated as GXXXGXXG, which is also referred to as the 'KH domain signature', and resides in the center of the KH domain (Musco et al. 1996). This sequence has a notable evolutionary significance, since it is highly conserved in various organisms such as bacteria, archaea, and eukaryotes. The study of the secondary structures of the KH domain revealed it contains either a maxi-KH domain which presents  $\beta\alpha\alpha\beta\beta\alpha$  in sequence, or a mini-KH domain, with  $\beta\alpha\alpha\beta\beta$  in sequence. Studies for crystal structure of KH domains reveal the presence of  $\beta1-\alpha1-\alpha2-\beta2-\beta3-\alpha3$  topology (Lewis et al. 1999; Teplova et al. 2011).

#### Nova

Since our previous study demonstrated a significantly high binding affinity between the AUUCU repeat RNA and hnRNPK in SCA10 (White et al. 2010), we hypothesized that in addition to hnRNPK, additional KH-domain-containing neuronal proteins might complex with the expanded AUUCU RNA repeats, and thus preventing them from their normal cellular function, contributing to the complex SCA10 phenotypes.

The Nova proteins belong to the large class of KH-type family of RNA-binding proteins. Nova was initially described as an antigen in a paraneoplastic syndrome called POMA (paraneoplastic opsoclonus-myoclonus ataxia) (Musunuru et al. 2001). It has a KH domain highly homologous to hnRNPK. The function of Nova is known to regulate several of the brain-specific alternative splicing events including the pre-mRNA of inhibitory neurotransmitter receptors, GABA and Glycine. Nova is known to bind consensus sequences which are primary transcripts containing UCAY motifs.

Interestingly, Nova proteins are known to be functionally related to hnRNPK, where they are involved in cytoplasmic translocation of RNA transcripts from the nucleus (Michael et al. 1997), and regulate LOX-15 (lipoxygenase-15) mRNA translation in red blood cells (Ostareck et al. 1997).

The objective of the present study was to test our central hypothesis that in addition to hnRNPK, additional RNA-binding proteins containing the KH-domain(s) complex with the mutant AUUCU RNA repeats in SCA10 brain, and understanding this unusual RNA-protein interaction should provide important insight into the molecular pathogenic mechanism of SCA10.

#### RESULTS

### Nova contains highly conserved RNA-binding sequences, homologous to the KHdomain of hnRNPK

The hnRNPK and Nova share common structural motifs, the hnRNPK homology (KH) domain, which provides a structural basis for single-stranded mRNA or DNA binding. Evidence suggests that the KH-domains interact directly with single-stranded RNA through its signature sequence, and mutation in the KH domains abrogates its nucleic acid-binding properties.

To determine the alignment of the KH-domain in hnRNPK and Nova proteins, we analyzed and aligned sequences using Vector NTI software (Invitrogen Co.). Amino acid sequence alignment suggests that the KH-domain sequences of hnRNPK and Nova are highly conserved (Figure 3-1). KNAGAVIGKGGKNI---SLAGGIIGVKGAKI---DLAGSIIGKGGQRI AAGSIIGKGGQTI---STAGLIIGKGGATV---NLVGAILGKGGKTL VAAGSIIGKGGQTI---STAGLIIGKGGATV---NLVGAILGKGGKTL Nova-2

**Figure 3-1. Highly conserved KH domain sequences of hnRNPK, Nova-1 and -2.** Amino acid sequence alignment shows that the KH-domain sequences of hnRNPK, Nova-1 and -2 are highly conserved.

The hnRNPK contains three KH-domains that mediate its specific interaction with the target sequences. Interestingly the KH-domains in Nova harbor additional conserved sequences in its N- and C-terminal which are also known to be required for specificity of RNA-binding. The alignment of amino acid sequences of hnRNPK and Nova reveals that the GXXXGXXG sequence motifs present in the KH-domains are highly conserved (Musco et al. 1996).

# Nova shows strong affinity for AUUCU repeats and forms RNA-protein complex under normal physiological conditions *in vitro*

Sequence analyses of hnRNPK and Nova revealed that the KH-domains present in hnRNPK and Nova share a significant sequence homology. Nova contains three KHdomains, similar to that observed in hnRNPK. Our previous studies have shown that the expanded AUUCU RNA shows a strong affinity for hnRNPK both *in vivo* and *in vitro* (White et al. 2010). Since Nova contains three highly conserved hnRNPK-like KH domains, we hypothesized that the mutant AUUCU RNA might complex with Nova and this unusual and aberrant RNA-protein interaction *in vivo* might alter/diminish Nova activity, and altered/diminished function of Nova might contribute to complex neurological pathology in SCA10. To investigate whether the expanded AUUCU RNA binds Nova, we first determined the specificity and strength of bi-molecular interaction of the extended AUUCU repeat RNA and Nova using an RNA solution-binding assay described in White et al. (2010).

To determine whether expanded AUUCU RNA specifically interacts with Nova, we performed the RNA solution binding assay using purified Nova. To achieve this goal, we purified Nova using gel-filtration affinity chromatography as described in White et al. (2010). The purified Nova was then incubated with the single-stranded 5'-biotin-labeled synthetic (AUUCU)<sub>15</sub> RNA molecules at room temperature overnight to allow the formation of RNA-protein complex under normal physiological conditions. Nova was then serially extracted from the RNA-protein complex with HEPES buffer containing increasing salt (sodium chloride) concentrations. The extracted protein fractions were analyzed using PAGE and the Nova was detected by Western blot analysis using anti-Nova antibody. The Western blot data demonstrates that Nova could be extracted from the AUUCU-RNA-protein complex only with higher salt concentration ( $\geq$  150 Mm) but not with lower physiological salt concentration, suggesting a significantly higher affinity of Nova for the (AUUCU)<sub>15</sub> RNA. In contrast, Nova was completely dissociated from the control RNA molecules at significantly lower ( $\leq 100$  mM) salt concentrations (Figure 3-2). This finding suggested that Nova binds tightly to the expanded AUUCU RNA repeats.

# Nova shows marked co-localization with the AUUCU RNA foci in SH-SY5Y cells ectopically expressing pathogenic lengths of AUUCU repeats

The *in vitro* solution binding assay described above suggested the possibility that Nova might also bind with the mutant AUUCU RNA repeats *in vivo*. To investigate this possibility, we first evaluated the possible co-localization of Nova with the extended

AUUCU RNA foci in SH-SY5Y cells. To achieve this goal, we co-transfected SH-SY5Y cells with two plasmids: one expressing ~500 AUUCU repeats, and the second expressing GFP-tagged human Nova. The *FISH* analysis of the double-transfected SH-SY5Y cells with cy3-labeled antisense (AGAAU)<sub>5</sub> RNA probe showed distinct and highly significant co-localization of the red fluorescence from the ~500 AUUCU RNA repeats, and the green fluorescence from the GFP-tagged Nova (Figure 3-3). This finding substantiated our central hypothesis that Nova might complex with the expanded AUUCU RNA repeats *in vivo* and be present as RNA-protein aggregates or complexes in the double-transfected SH-SY5Y cells.



#### Figure 3-2. RNA Solution Binding Assay.

Purified Nova was incubated with biotin-labeled (AUUCU)<sub>15</sub> RNA or control RNA, and sequential extraction of Nova from RNA-protein complex with elution buffer containing increasing NaCl concentration was performed. Finally extraction was analyzed through western blot. Top blot is Nova extracted from control RNA-protein complex and the bottom one is Nova extracted from (AUUCU)<sub>15</sub> RNA-protein complex. It shows Nova protein is extracted from RNA-protein complex only with higher salt concentration ( $\geq$  150 mM), but is completely dissociated from the control RNA at significantly lower salt concentration ( $\leq$  50mM).



**Figure 3-3. Co-localiztion of AUUCU-RNA and Nova in SH-SY5Y cells.** SH-SY5Y cells were co-transfected with AUUCU repeat and GFP-tagged human Nova. RNA foci are detected using Cy-3-labelled (AGAAU) antisense RNA probe through RNA fluorescence *in situ* hybridization (FISH). Analysis shows distinct colocalization of the red fluorescence from AUUCU RNA and the green fluorescence from Nova protein. Yellow/Orange fluorescence indicates overlap of red and green fluorescence (arrow). Nuclei are counterstained with 4, 6 diamino-2-phenylindole dihydrochloride (DAPI). Scale bar represent 10µm.

# The AUUCU RNA foci show strong co-localization with endogenous Nova in the SCA10 transgenic mouse brain ectopically expressing ~500 AUUCU repeats

To further investigate the possible *in vivo* interaction between the expanded AUUCU repeats and Nova, we examined whether Nova shows any significant co-localization with the aggregates formed by the mutant AUUCU RNA in the SCA10 transgenic mouse brain. We have developed a transgenic plasmid DNA construct which harbors the expanded ATTCT repeats (~500 ATTCT repeats) within the rabbit  $\beta$ -globin intron cloned upstream of the *LacZ* reporter gene and downstream of the human  $\alpha$ -enolase promoter genes (White et al. 2010). Using this transgenic construct, we generated a novel transgenic mouse line that expresses ~500 AUUCU repeats in brain. Our study demonstrated that the transcripts containing the ~500 AUUCU repeats formed distinct nuclear as well as cytosolic aggregates (White et al. 2010). We carried out RNA *FISH* analysis on the sagittal section of the SCA10 transgenic mouse brain and found a significant co-localization of hnRNPK with the AUUCU RNA (White et al. 2010). To

further establish whether Nova also interacts with the AUUCU RNA in vivo, the AUUCU repeat-containing aggregates were detected by RNA *FISH* (Cy3 fluorescentlabeled antisense probe), and Nova was visualized with immunofluorescence-tagged anti-Nova antibody in mouse brain. The RNA *FISH* and immunofluorescence analysis of the transgenic mouse brain shows highly significant co-localization of AUUCU RNA foci with endogenous Nova in the sagittal sections of hippocampus CA1 (Figure 3-4A) and cerebellar cortex (Figure 3-4B) from the 6-month-old SCA10 mice (n=6). In contrast, no detectable RNA foci or its co-localization were observed in the control mouse brains (Figure 3-5).

 $B = \int_{a}^{b} \int_{a}^{b}$ 

## Figure 3-4. Co-localization of AUUCU RNA and Nova protein in transgenic SCA10 mouse expressing intronic ~500 AUUCU repeat.

Expanded AUUCU RNA forms aggregates which were detected by RNA fluorescence *in situ* hybridization (FISH), and Nova was visualized with immunofluorescence-tagged anti-Nova antibody in SCA10 transgenic mouse brain expressing ~500 AUUCU repeat. Analysis shows co-localization of AUUCU repeat (red) with endogenous Nova (green) in sagittal section of hippocampus CA1 (Fig. 3-4A) and cerebellar cortex (Fig. 3-4B) from SCA10 transgenic mouse. Yellow/Orange fluorescence indicates overlap of red and green fluorescence (arrow). Nuclei are counterstained with 4, 6 diamino-2-phenylindole dihydrochloride (DAPI). Scale bar represents 10  $\mu$ m.

A



## Figure 3-5. RNA foci or its co-localization of AUUCU RNA and Nova protein are not detected in control mouse.

RNA fluorescence *in situ* hybridization (FISH) analysis does not show any distinct RNA foci on the sagittal section of wild type mouse brain. Endogenous Nova was detected with immunofluorescence-tagged anti-Nova antibody (green). There is no detectable co-localization of Nova with RNA in wild type mouse brain. Nuclei are counterstained with 4, 6 diamino-2-phenylindole dihydrochloride (DAPI). Scale bar represents 10  $\mu$ m.

#### Nova co-localizes with the AUUCU RNA foci in SCA10 patient's brain.

To further confirm the *in vivo* interaction of the expanded AUUCU RNA repeats and Nova in SCA10 patients' brain, we examined co-localization of endogenous mutant *ATXN10* transcripts with endogenous Nova in the patient's brain. Sagittal sections from SCA10 patient's brain and control brains were analyzed by *FISH*; Nova was detected with anti-Nova antibody and AUUCU RNA aggregates were detected with Cy3-labelled antisense RNA probe as described above. Distinct and marked co-localization of endogenous *ATXN10* transcripts encoding expanded AUUCU repeats with endogenous Nova was observed in the cerebellar cortex of an SCA 10 patient. In contrast, control human brain did not show any detectable foci or co-localization under identical experimental conditions (Figure 3-6).



#### Figure 3-6. Co-localization of AUUCU RNA and Nova in human brain.

RNA fluorescence *in situ* hybridization (FISH) analysis shows the distinct co-localization of AUUCU RNA with endogenous Nova in SCA10 human brain (upper row). RNA foci are detected using Cy-3-labelled (AGAAU) antisense RNA probe (red fluorescence). Nova was visualized with immunofluorescence-tagged anti-Nova antibody (green fluorescence). Yellow/Orange fluorescence indicates overlap of red and green fluorescence (arrow). In contrast, control human brain does not show any distinct co-localization (lower row). Nuclei are counterstained with 4, 6 diamino-2-phenylindole dihydrochloride (DAPI).

#### SUMMARY/DISCUSSION AND FURTHER STUDY

Several hereditary neurological disorders are found to be caused by expanded microsatellite repeats in non-coding portions of genes (Todd et al. 2010). For instance, DM1 is attributed to the expansion of a polymorphic CTG tri-nucleatide repeats located in the 3' untranslated region (UTR) of the *DMPK* gene. A large number of recent studies suggest that the expanded CTG repeats are efficiently transcribed and the extended CUG sequences, encoded in the mutant *DMPK* transcripts, complex with specific RNA-binding

proteins including muscle blind (MBNL1) protein and CUG-BP1, and aberrant RNAprotein interactions result in inappropriate splicing of multiple target pre-mRNA molecules, leading to multi-organ pathophysiology in DM1.

In the present study, we have provided strong evidence that support our central hypothesis that Nova interacts with the mutant AUUCU RNA repeats *in vitro*, in cell culture, transgenic mouse brain and in SCA10 patient's brain. As described in DM1, ATTCT expansion in SCA10 is transcribed to AUUCU repeats, and this lengthy AUUCU repeat sequences sequester RNA-binding proteins e.g., hnRNPK and Nova. Since Nova plays a crucial role in maintaining neuronal integrity in the nervous system, we hypothesize that this aberrant RNA-protein interaction in patients' brain would result in partial or complete inactivation of Nova, leading to aberrant splicing of the Nova target genes and neurological phenotypes in SCA10. The present consensus is that Nova regulates alternative splicing of several target genes in the central nervous system (CNS) and therefore studying the aberrant splicing of the Nova target genes in SCA10 should provide important insight into the mechanism of disease pathogenesis.

In the next chapter, we used SH-SY5Y cells and SCA10 mouse model to perform experiments focusing on determining the Nova dysfunction in SCA10 pathogenic mechanism to obtain further evidence that supports our central hypothesis that the gainof-function of AUUCU-RNA repeats leading to either diminished or loss of function of Nova is one of the primary contributors of SCA10 pathogenic mechanism. In addition, we determined that the splicing regulatory function of Nova is altered in SCA10.

### CHAPTER 4: SPECIFIC AIM 2. ABBERANT SPLICING OF NOVA TARGET GENES IN SCA10

#### **INTRODUCTION**

#### **Alternative splicing**

Differential processing of pre-mRNAs, commonly referred to as alternative or alternate splicing, is one of the most important and highly efficient cellular mechanisms to provide cells different sets of proteins from a single RNA precursor, ultimately leading to cellular and functional diversity. Alternative splicing also defines characteristic expression: differential, spatial and temporal, depending on cell type. Distinct functions and structures of cells determined by alternative splicing play a fundamental role in maintaining the integrity and complexity of neuronal function in nervous system.

Since 1982, when Amara et al. first demonstrated alternative splicing in the *CGRP* gene (Amara et al. 1982), various patterns of alternative splicing from many genes have been discovered. Subsequently, the reports for differentially spliced isoforms of major neurotransmitter receptor subtypes including glutamate (Sommer et al. 1990), NMDA (Hollmann et al. 1993), and GABA<sub>A</sub> (Whiting et al. 1990) receptors followed. The physiologic or pathologic significance of most of these splice variants has been actively studied and needs to be elucidated further.

#### Nova

Nova is known to be exclusively expressed in the CNS, and was originally identified as a target antigen in a paraneoplastic neurological condition, POMA (paraneoplastic opsoclonus myoclonus ataxia) (Darnell 1996), a condition wherein patients develop characteristic inhibitory motor defects including opsoclonus, myoclonus, and ataxia. Nova is also well known to harbor three KH-domains, which are involved in interactions with specific nucleotide sequence.

Nova has been found to function as a neuron-specific splicing factor, and regulates alternative splicing of a group of genes in the CNS. There are consensus sequences including HYCAY motifs (H indicates A, C, or U and Y indicates C or U) (Jensen et al. 2000), which are usually located closely in the target exon of pre-mRNAs. Nova binds to these cluster motifs through mediation of its KH-domains, and regulates splicing of the target pre-mRNAs. However, the exact Nova target sequence motifs have not been conclusively established.

Targets of Nova have been widely investigated where they have been found to be closely involved in inhibitory synaptic functions (Ule et al. 2005). Pre-mRNAs of GlyR $\alpha$ 2 and GABA<sub>A</sub>R $\gamma$ 2 are two inhibitory neurotransmitter receptor subunits which were identified as Nova target RNAs.

#### Splicing regulatory function of Nova

Nova has been shown to regulate alternative splicing of GlyR $\alpha$ 2 exons E3A and E3B, which are known to encode a crucial component of the extracellular domain of the GlyR $\alpha$ 2 receptor. These exons are known to be spliced in or out in a mutually exclusive

fashion in presence/absence of Nova. The intronic sequence  $(UCAU)_3$  of the GlyRa2 pre-mRNA transcript, known to be Nova binding motif, is located 80 nucleotides upstream of an exon, E3A. Once Nova binds the target RNA sequence during transcription, the inclusion of E3A is enhanced, while the exclusion of a downstream exon, E3B occurs simultaneously. The alternative splicing of E3A and E3B exons in the GlyRa2 gene by Nova provides a different set of the extracellular domain of GlyRa2, ultimately leading to different properties of the receptor ligand binding (Kuhse et al. 1991).

GABA<sub>A</sub>R $\gamma$ 2 is another important transcript, the alternative splicing of which has been shown to be regulated by Nova (Dredge et al. 2003). As a cassette, exon E9 of GABA<sub>A</sub>R $\gamma$ 2 is alternatively spliced, it generates two mRNA isoforms, E9L (long) and E9S (short). Interestingly, the E9L exon encodes an additional 8 amino acids that are expressed in an intracellular loop of GABA<sub>A</sub>R $\gamma$ 2. These sequences of amino acids are found to harbor a protein kinase C phosphorylation site, which further modulates GABA<sub>A</sub> receptor function. Once Nova binds the Nova- intronic motif, (YCAY) which is located 80 nucleotides upstream of exon E10 of GABA<sub>A</sub>R $\gamma$ 2, it causes enhancement of exon E9L inclusion and exon E9S exclusion at the same time.

In a previous study by Jensen et al. using Nova knock-out (KO) mice (Jensen et al. 2000), a characteristic phenotype of inhibitory motor defect as well as characteristic aberrant splicing pattern of GlyR $\alpha$ 2 and GABA<sub>A</sub>R $\gamma$ 2 in the absence of Nova was demonstrated. Analysis of splicing indicated a significant decrease in utilization of GlyR $\alpha$ 2 E3A and GABA<sub>A</sub>R $\gamma$ 2 E9L in KO mice compared to wild-type. In the present study, we hypothesized that normal function of Nova would be disrupted by aberrant interaction of Nova with the mutant AUUCU RNA in SCA10, leading to aberrant splicing of Nova targets in SCA10 patient's brain. Because Nova protein is sequestered

by lengthy AUUCU RNA repeats in SCA10 which causes depletion of intracellular levels of Nova, decreased level of Nova will eventually cause the splicing defect observed in Nova null mice. In this chapter, to determine whether the RNA-Nova interaction sequesters Nova from its splicing regulatory function, we assessed alternative splicing of Nova target genes, including two important inhibitory neurotransmitter receptors, GlyR $\alpha$ 2 and GABA<sub>A</sub>R $\gamma$ 2.

In the previous chapter, we used cell culture model, SCA10 mouse model and SCA10 patient's tissue to demonstrate that Nova binds with expanded AUUCU repeats *in vivo* in a highly specific manner. In this chapter, we investigated whether the function of Nova was altered due to the inappropriate interaction of Nova with the mutant AUUCU RNA repeats in SCA10.

#### RESULTS

### Alternative splicing of GlyRa2 and GABA<sub>A</sub>Ry2 transcripts

Briefly, during transcription, exon 3A of GlyR $\alpha$ 2 is included in the presence of Nova, whereas exon 3B is excluded in the absence of Nova (Figure 4-1). In similar fashion, the E9L of GABA<sub>A</sub>R $\gamma$ 2 RNA is predominantly expressed in presence of active Nova in brain, whereas the E9S of GABA<sub>A</sub>R $\gamma$ 2 RNA is predominantly detected in the absence of Nova (Figure 4-2).



Figure 4-1. Alternative splicing of GlyRa2 and a splicing regulatory factor, Nova.



Figure 4-2. Alternative splicing of GABA<sub>A</sub>R<sub>γ</sub>2 and a splicing regulatory factor, Nova.

Using RT-PCR analyses, we examined whether any changes in splicing isoforms occurred in various SCA10 models. Detection of any shift in splicing isoforms would indicate that the normal splicing regulatory function of Nova is altered by the RNA repeat

in SCA10. Furthermore, the splicing defect may lead to the alteration of the physiologic properties of Nova targets, contributing to SCA pathogenesis.

## Aberrant splicing of GlyRα2 and GABA<sub>A</sub>Rγ2 transcripts in human neuroblastoma (SH-SY5Y) cells expressing the expanded AUUCU RNA repeats

To identify the alternative splicing pattern of GlyR $\alpha$ 2 and GABA<sub>A</sub>R $\gamma$ 2 premRNAs in SH-SY5Y cells, ectopically expressing the mutant AUUCU repeats, we performed RT-PCR analysis of the total RNA isolated from cells expressing ~500 and 25 AUUCU repeats. With the assumption that the proportion of inclusion or exclusion of exons relative to the total number of transcripts alters significantly in ATTCT repeat

expressing cells, we designed primers to detect two well-known splicing isoforms of  $GlyR\alpha 2$  and  $GABA_AR\gamma 2$ , respectively.

The RT-PCR analysis of total RNA isolated from SH-SY5Y cells expressing ~500 AUUCU RNA repeats showed two splice isoforms of GlyRα2; one isoform is GlyRα2 E3A ("exon 3A inclusion and exon 3B exclusion" isoform) and the other is GlyRα2 E3B ("exon 3B inclusion and exon 3A exclusion" isoform). We found that in control SH-SY5Y cells, both E3A and E3B isoforms were transcribed with



Figure 4-3. Aberrant splicing of GlyRa2 in SH-SY5Y cells expressing mutant AUUCU. RT-PCR products of control and mutant AUUCU expressing SH-SY5Y cells were analyzed and two well-known splicing isoforms of GlyRa2 were detected. The data indicate that both E3A and E3B isoforms were transcribed with E3B being relatively predominant in control SH-SY5Y cells, whereas in mutant AUUCU expressing SH-SY5Y cells, the 3A isoform was decreased, and isoform increased the 3B was significantly.

E3B being relatively predominant, whereas in SH-SY5Y cells expressing the mutant ATTCT repeats, the 3A isoform was decreased, and the 3B isoform was increased significantly (Figure 4-3).

In the same fashion, we performed RT-PCR analysis and determined the two isoforms of  $GABA_AR\gamma 2$  splicing, E9L ("inclusion of exon 9L and exclusion of exon 9S" isoform), and E9S ("inclusion of exon exon 9S inclusion and exclusion of exon 9L" isoform). The pattern of  $GABA_AR\gamma 2$ splicing revealed that the E9L isoform was more common than the E9S isoform in the control SH-SY5Y cells (expressing 25 AUUCU repeats) whereas the E9S isoform predominated in SH-SY5Y cells expressing ~500 AUUCU repeats. Significantly, the E9L isoform expressed in the normal condition was largely replaced by the E9S isoform in SH-SY5Y cells expressing the mutant AUUCU repeats (Figure 4-4).



Figure 4-4. Aberrant splicing of GABA<sub>A</sub>Ry2 in SH-SY5Y cells expressing mutant AUUCU. RT-PCR products of control and mutant AUUCU expressing SH-SY5Y cells were analyzed and two well-known splicing isoforms of  $GABA_AR\gamma 2$ were detected. The data indicate that the E9L isoform was more common than the E9S isoform in the control SH-SY5Y cells, whereas in mutant AUUCU expressing SH-SY5Y cells, the E9S isoform predominated in SH-SY5Y cells expressing ~500 AUUCU repeats.

## Targeted inactivation of Nova results in aberrant splicing of the GlyR $\alpha$ 2 and GABA<sub>A</sub>R $\gamma$ 2 transcripts in the SH-SY5Y cells

To determine the alternative splicing pattern of  $GlyR\alpha 2$  and  $GABA_AR\gamma 2$  transcripts in the Nova-depleted condition, we performed a Nova inhibition study using small interfering RNA (siRNA). Specific siRNA sequences were used for the targeted down-regulation of Nova in SH-SY5Y cells. The effect of Nova down-regulation on alternative splicing of  $GlyR\alpha 2$  and  $GABA_AR\gamma 2$  transcripts was analyzed by RT-PCR in SH-SY5Y cells.

Successful down-regulation of Nova expression in SH-SY5Y cells was assessed by Western blot analysis, which showed significant decrease in the expression of Nova in the SH-SY5Y cells transfected with Nova siRNA compared with cells treated with control siRNA (Figure 4-5). Using RT-PCR analysis, alternative splicings of GlyR $\alpha$ 2 and GABA<sub>A</sub>R $\gamma$ 2 transcripts were assessed. The siRNA-mediated downregulation of Nova resulted in dramatic shift in alternative splicing of both GlyR $\alpha$ 2 and GABA<sub>A</sub>R $\gamma$ 2 RNA, and this aberrant splicing change was similar to the splicing change that was observed in SH-SY5Y cells expressing the mutant AUUCUrepeats (Figure 4-6). In SH-SY5Y cells treated with Nova siRNA, the 3A isoform of the GlyR $\alpha$ 2 transcript, and E9L isoform of the  $GABA_AR\gamma 2$  transcript were drastically decreased.



## Figure 4-5. Down-regulation of Nova by siRNA.

SH-SY5Y cells were transfected with100 pmoles siRNA for Nova. Western blot analysis after 72 hours transfection indicates treatment with Nova siRNA efficiently suppresses Nova expression in SH-SY5Y cells. **B**-actin control is shown.



# Figure 4-6. Alternative splicing of GlyR $\alpha$ 2 and GABA<sub>A</sub>R $\gamma$ 2 in SH-SY5Y cells treated with Nova si RNA.

RT-PCR products of control and Nova siRN- treated SH-SY5Y cells were analyzed and two well-known splicing isoforms of GlyR $\alpha$ 2 and GABA<sub>A</sub>R $\gamma$ 2 were detected, respectively. The utilizations of exon 3A in GlyR $\alpha$ 2 and exon 9L in GABA<sub>A</sub>R $\gamma$ 2 are significantly decreased in SH-SY5Y cells treated with Nova siRNA.

#### Splicing defect of Nova target genes in SCA10 transgenic mouse brain

To determine aberrant splicing of the Nova targets *in vivo*, we assayed splicing of GlyR $\alpha$ 2 and GABA<sub>A</sub>R $\gamma$ 2 in total RNA isolated from the brain of SCA10 transgenic mice. Using previously described primers for GlyR $\alpha$ 2 and GABA<sub>A</sub>R $\gamma$ 2 (Jensen et al. 2000), we performed RT-PCR analysis of total RNA from the SCA10 transgenic brain. Our data indicates that the alternative splicing of exon 3A of the GlyR $\alpha$ 2 transcript was significantly disrupted compared to wild-type brain. There was approximately 5-fold increase in the utilization of exon 3B in RNA from transgenic mice, compared to that from wild type brain. At the same time, there was significant change in the utilization of E9S alternatively spliced GABA<sub>A</sub>R $\gamma$ 2 exon as well in transgenic mice relative to wild type brain, consistent with previous observations in SH-SY5Y cells. Significantly, the E9L isoform is completely replaced by the E9S isoform in transgenic mice brain expressing the expanded ATTCT repeat (Figure 4-7).



Figure 4-7. Alternative splicing of GlyR $\alpha$ 2 and GABA<sub>A</sub>R $\gamma$ 2 in SCA10 transgenic mouse brain.

RT-PCR products of wild type and SCA10 transgenic mouse brain were analyzed and splicing isoforms of GlyR $\alpha$ 2 and GABA<sub>A</sub>R $\gamma$ 2 were detected, respectively. The utilizations of exon 3A in GlyR $\alpha$ 2 and exon 9L in GABA<sub>A</sub>R $\gamma$ 2 are significantly decreased in SCA10 transgenic mouse brain.

These changes in alternative splicing in SH-SY5Y cells expressing expanded ATTCT repeats and SCA10 transgenic mice are significant, ranging from 3-fold to 10-fold depending on sample types. The bar graph representing splicing percentages of GlyR $\alpha$ 2 were calculated as (E3A band)/(All isoform' bands) and (E3B band)/(All isoform' bands); those of GABA<sub>A</sub>R $\gamma$ 2 were calculated as (E9L band)/(All isoform' bands) and (E9S band)/(All isoform' bands), respectively (Figure 4-8). The signal density of the bands was measured and quantified using Multigauge software (Fujifilm). The analysis showed a net 5-fold decrease in exon 3A use of GlyR $\alpha$ 2 RNA in SCA10 to wild-type brain: a 10-fold decrease in use of the exon 9L isoform in GABA<sub>A</sub>R $\gamma$ 2 RNA in SCA10 to wild-type brain.



Figure 4-8. Alternative splicing of GlyRα2 and GABA<sub>A</sub>Rγ2 in SCA10.

The quantitative analysis of signal density through multigauge software (Fujifilm) indicates significant decrease in exon 3A of GlyR $\alpha$ 2 and exon 9L of GABA<sub>A</sub>R $\gamma$ 2, and increase in exon 3B of GlyR $\alpha$ 2 and exon 9S of GABA<sub>A</sub>R $\gamma$ 2 in SCA10 transgenic mouse brain compared to wild-type brain.

#### Splicing defect of other Nova targets in SCA10 models

Other important Nova targets include gephyrin, neogenin, and c-Jun N-terminal kinase 2 (c-JNK2) (Ule et al. 2003), which are also known to be involved in inhibitory synaptic transmission. To determine whether the splicing patterns of these Nova targets are also altered in the SCA10 transgenic brain, we investigated the splicing of transcripts of gephyrin, neogenin, and c-JNK2 in SCA10 transgenic mouse brain. Using RT-PCR analysis and previously described primers (Ule et al. 2003), we determined the alternative splicing of the pre-RNA transcripts of gephyrin, neogenin, and c-JNK2 in SCA10 mouse brain. Our data suggest that the splicing patterns of these targets are significantly

altered in SCA10 transgenic mice, as previously described in Nova mutant mice (Ule et al. 2003) (Figure 4-9).





Figure 4-9. (Continued) Aberrant splicing of other Nova targets in SCA10.



#### Figure 4-9. (Continued) Aberrant splicing of other Nova targets in SCA10.

RT-PCR products of wild type and SCA10 transgenic mouse brain were analyzed and splicing isoforms of gephyrin, neogenin, and c-JNK2 were detected, respectively, as previously described (Ule et al. 2003). The amount of exon 9 in gephyrin and exon 27 in neogenin, are significantly increased in SCA10 transgenic mouse brain compared to wild-type. The utilization of exon 6B in c-JNK2 is significantly increased in SCA10 transgenin, and c-JNK2 is significantly altered in SCA10 transgenic mouse brain.

#### DISCUSSION

Nova is a neuron-specific protein which plays an important role in alternative splicing regulation. Nova was originally identified in an auto-immune-mediated condition known as paraneoplastic opsoclonus-myoclonus ataxia (POMA), which was associated with the production of auto-antibodies against neuron-specific antigens in tumors (Musunuru et al. 2001). Antibodies generated in POMA patients attack targets of these antigens in the CNS, which eventually cause the neurodegeneration and neurological deficits in these patients.

POMA patients developed significant motor incoordination; impaired control of inhibitory motor neurons in the cerebellum and brainstem. Significantly, a previous study by Jensen et al. indicates that a phenotype of Nova-1-/- mice is similar to POMA patients; difficulties in controlling motor function due to atrophy of the motor neurons. Subsequently, it was hypothesized that disruption in the alternative splicing of genes involved in the inhibitory synaptic transmission leads to POMA pathogenesis (Jensen et al. 2000). Growing evidence indicates that defects in alternative splicing of the synaptic proteins such as voltage-gated calcium channels can contribute to the disease phenotypes (Faustino et al. 2003; Liao et al. 2009). Notably, Nova-1 mutant animals showed a marked phenotype, which developed severe impairment of motor function postnatally (Jensen et al. 2000).

We demonstrated abnormal splicing of Nova target pre-mRNAs e.g., receptor subunits of two of the important inhibitory neurotransmitters, GlyR $\alpha$ 2 and GABA<sub>A</sub>R $\gamma$ 2, in the SCA10 brain. We also showed that exon 3A of GlyR $\alpha$ 2 and exon 9L of GABA<sub>A</sub>R $\gamma$ 2 were aberrantly spliced in SH-SY5Y cells ectopically expressing mutant ATTCT repeats and also in SCA10 transgenic mouse brain expressing ~500 AUUCU repeats. From this analysis of alternative splicing of the Nova targets, we hypothesized that the splicing defects would result in changes of receptor properties, which might eventually contribute to the development of SCA10 phenotype.

#### Does the splicing defect of the Nova targets lead to the SCA10 phenotype?

The GlyR $\alpha$ 2 and GABA<sub>A</sub> receptor are the two main types of inhibitory synaptic receptors predominantly present in the cerebellum of vertebrates. They belong to the superfamily of Cys-loop-based ligand-gated ion channels (Grenningloh et al. 1987). Two splicing variants of the GlyR $\alpha$ 2, GlyR $\alpha$ 2A and GlyR $\alpha$ 2B, are distinct in the

substitution of two adjacent amino acids, V58 and T59 in GlyR $\alpha$ 2A; and, I58 and A59 in GlyR $\alpha$ 2B, which are located in the extracellular domain of the N-terminal. The previous study by Miller et al. indicated that the GlyR $\alpha$ 2B isoform holds a much higher sensitivity to the agonists,  $\beta$ -alanine, glycine, and taurine, compared to the GlyR $\alpha$ 2A variant. Interestingly, this study also demonstrated that substitution of the two amino acid residues in the N-terminal extracellular domain between two GlyR $\alpha$ 2 splice variants underlie this functional difference (Miller et al. 2004), suggesting these subtle molecular differences in the molecules can lead to significantly distinct functional consequences.

The study by Jin et al. indicated that the  $\gamma 2$  subunit of the GABA<sub>A</sub> receptor plays an essential role in clustering as well as postsynaptic localization of GABAA receptors (Jin et al. 2004). This subunit is also known to be required for the endocytosis of GABA<sub>A</sub> receptors (Essrich et al. 1998; Kittler et al. 2000). More importantly, mutations in the  $\gamma 2$  subunit lead to the dysfunction of GABA<sub>A</sub> receptor which eventually results in familial epilepsy syndromes (Baulac et al. 2001; Wallace et al. 2001). Genetically manipulated mice which express only the short form of the GABA<sub>A</sub>R $\gamma$ 2 subunit develop severe anxiety (Homanics et al. 1999), and higher sensitivity to benzodiazepines compared to wild-type mice (Quinlan et al. 2000). The mutant AUUCU RNA repeats abolish and/or diminish the binding of Nova to its targets leading to alteration in Novadependent splicing regulation in SCA10. Thus sequestration of Nova by mutant AUUCU RNA results in significant disruption of the regulation of alternative splicing of GlyR $\alpha$ 2 and GABA<sub>A</sub>Ry2. This finding provides an important molecular basis for understanding SCA10 pathogenesis, particularly the motor coordination defects due to ATTCT repeat expansions. It also suggests that dysfunction of Nova's splicing regulation underlies the neurologic defects observed in SCA10.

To address the pathogenic implication of the splicing defects of the Nova targets in eliciting SCA10 pathogenesis, we hypothesized that the splicing defect of the Nova targets - GlyR $\alpha$ 2 and GABA<sub>A</sub>R $\gamma$ 2 - contributes to the SCA10 phenotype. Because GlyR $\alpha$ 2 and GABA<sub>A</sub>R $\gamma$ 2 are two main receptor subunits involved in inhibitory synaptic transmission in cerebellum, we decided to determine postsynaptic inhibitory currents in Purkinje cells in cerebellum of transgenic mice (please refer to additional experiments, in Chapter 5).

### **CHAPTER 5: DISCUSSION AND ADDITIONAL EXPERIMENTS**

Spinocerebellar ataxia type 10 is one of the autosomal dominant cerebellar ataxias (ADCAs) and the mutation in SCA10 is the expansion of a polymorphic ATTCT pentanucleotide repeats located in the 9th intron of the *ATXN10* gene. Although a major part of the pathogenic mechanism of the disease is not clear, previous studies have provided strong evidence suggesting that the expanded intronic ATTCT repeats are effectively transcribed and the mutant *ATXN10* transcripts encoding the extended AUUCU repeats are highly toxic and might play major pathogenic roles in eliciting neurological phenotypes in SCA10.

#### SCA10 AS A TOXIC RNA GAIN OF FUNCTION DISEASE

The present study showed compelling evidence that supports the notion that SCA10 is a toxic RNA gain-of-function disease. We demonstrated specific and aberrant interaction between the mutant AUUCU RNA repeats and RNA-binding protein, Nova in SCA10. The expanded AUUCU repeat in the 9th intron of the *ATXN10* gene attracts RNA-binding proteins to form intracellular RNA-protein aggregates which ultimately leads to impaired function of the RNA-binding proteins. Moreover, our study showed the altered function of Nova in SCA10, which could be represented by splicing defects of major inhibitory neurotransmitter receptors, Glycine and GABA. As a result of the sequestration of the RNA-binding proteins by a toxic expanded repeat, mis-splicing of several transcripts occurs.
We demonstrated a 'toxic' gain-of-function effect of the AUUCU-repeat RNA in neuronal cells ectopically expressing expanded AUUCU-RNA repeats, SCA10 transgenic mouse model and in human brain tissues. Our study strongly supports the hypothesis that aberrant RNA-protein interaction between the mutant AUUCU repeat RNA with specific RNA-binding proteins is the major pathogenic mechanism of SCA10. In this regard, the pathophysiological consequence of mRNA toxicity must be dissected for better understanding of this non-coding repeat disorder, although its molecular mechanism is still largely unknown.

#### **SCA10** PHENOTYPE

Previously, cerebellar atrophy was demonstrated in magnetic resonance imaging studies in SCA10 patients, which represents neurodegeneration in SCA10. It was also demonstrated that specific loss of cerebellar Purkinje cells mainly consists of decreased cerebellar volume in SCA10 patients. We pointed out 'the depletion of hnRNPK' as its possible underlying mechanism in which the expanded AUUCU-RNA repeat causes neuronal cell death. In our previous study, we postulated sequestration of RNA-binding protein, hnRNPK leads to apoptotic neuronal death through intracellular shift of PKC delta into mitochondria. The other principal clinical features of SCA10 are progressive pancerebellar ataxia and seizure, although other nervous system involvement such as peripheral neuropathy or cognitive decline may be associated. How this interaction between AUUCU RNA repeat and RNA-binding proteins contributes to the SCA10 phenotype is unknown and needs further study.

The present study demonstrated Nova depletion and subsequent splicing defects of its targets in SCA10. Previous study of the phenotypic effects of Nova depletion in Nova knockout (KO) mice indicates significant dysregulation of the inhibitory motor function in mice. We hypothesize that sequestration of Nova by the extended AUUCU RNA repeats contributes to motor co-ordination phenotypes in SCA10 similar to the phenotypes observed in Nova KO mice. To briefly speak of the transgenic construct, as previously described (White et al. 2010), ~500 ATTCT repeats from SCA10 patient was PCR-amplified, cloned into the second intron of the rabbit  $\beta$ -globin gene. This intron was cloned downstream of the neuron-specific  $\alpha$ -enolase promoter and upstream of the LacZ gene to develop the transgenic construct. The transgene containing the  $\alpha$ -enolase promoter,  $\beta$ -globin intron with the ATTCT repeats, lacZ and the BGH plyA sequences was microinjected into mouse fertilized eggs, and the injected eggs were implanted into the uterus of a surrogate female. The founder mice were screened by Southern blotting and PCR analysis. Several positive founder mice were bred with wild type mice, and one F1 mouse from each line was analyzed for the expression of the ATTCT repeats. We were thus able to generate several transgenic mouse lines which express expanded pathogenic lengths of ATTCT repeats specifically in the brain. Interestingly, our SCA10 transgenic mice developed significant motor defects and seizure (Figure 5-1) (Quantitative data to be published elsewhere).



## Figure 5-1. SCA10 phenotype of transgenic mouse expressing AUUCU RNA repeat in brain.

Transgenic mouse expressing ~500 ATTCT repeats in brain develops significant motor defects and seizure. Captured photos describe the sudden loss of upright posture and generalized tonic clonic seizure activity.

Since Nova KO mice were only able to survive for less than 3 weeks postnatally, it is difficult to postulate how Nova depletion fully affects the phenotype in animals. However, in patients with SCA10, it takes 2-3 decades for clinical symptoms to manifests. We postulate this phenomenon is correlated to the gradual process of sequestration of RNA-binding proteins by repeat, to reach the threshold to cause dysfunction of targets. Because alternative splicing plays crucial roles in neuronal cells to maintain integrity and integrate complicated signals among neuronal networks, we propose that splicing defects contribute to the disease phenotype in SCA10.

#### THE PATHOGENIC IMPLICATIONS OF ABERRANT SPLICING IN SCA10

The distinct biophysical properties of the functional splice variants may give rise to underlying conditions of the molecular pathogenesis of the SCA10 phenotype. To address the implications of aberrant splicing of inhibitory neurotransmitter receptors, and to better understand genotype-phenotype correlations in SCA10, we explored electrophysiological properties as functional consequences of defective splicing.

#### THE ELECTROPHYSIOLOGICAL DEFECTS IN SCA10

Cerebellar dysfunction causes ataxia, which arises from dis-inhibition of the motor control in the cerebellar neurons. GABA and glycine, two important inhibitory neurotransmitters, play important roles in eliciting inhibitory synaptic transmission in the cerebellum. Importantly, the Purkinje neurons consist of the sole output in the cerebellum by integrating inhibitory inputs from the primary afferent signals from various cerebellar neurons. Pancerebellar ataxia is one of main neurologic deficits in SCA10.

Our previous study demonstrated sequestration of Nova by the mutant AUUCU RNA in SCA10, and the aberrant splicing of receptor subunits of the major inhibitory neurotransmitters, GABA and glycine in the SCA10 cerebellum. These splicing defects may underlie the pathophysiology of ataxia, one of the cardinal SCA10 manifestations. To determine the functional consequence of the aberrant splicing of Nova targets in SCA10, we hypothesized that the splicing defects would cause disruption in the inhibitory synaptic transmissions in the SCA10 cerebellum. More specifically, the disturbance would be in the inhibitory input to cerebellar Purkinje cells. To further test our central hypothesis, we examined the inhibitory electrophysiological properties in cerebellum of the SCA10 transgenic mice.

### RESULTS

To investigate the effects of aberrant splicing on inhibitory transmission to Purkinje neurons in cerebellum in SCA10, we measured miniature inhibitory postsynaptic currents (mIPSCs) in Purkinje cells of the wild type and SCA10 transgenic mice. Patch clamp recordings at Purkinje cell somata in animal brain slices were performed.

#### mIPSCs of Purkinje cells(PCs) in wild type and SCA10 transgenic mice

Patch clamp recordings revealed significant differences in the morphology of each tracing of mIPSC between wild type and SCA10 transgenic mice (Figure 5-2). Cumulative probability on the amplitude and inter-event interval of mIPSCs was determined. The analysis of the mIPSCs revealed significant differences between wild type and transgenic animals; there is a left shift in the probability of current amplitude, and downward shift in the probability of the current inter-event interval in SCA10 mice (Figure 5-3).



### Wild Type



The data represent typical examples of current recording containing mIPSC in Purkinje cells of wild type and SCA10 transgenic mice. The gross morphology of each tracing of mIPSCs in Purkinje cells indicates significant difference between wild type and SCA10 mice.





## Figure 5-3. Cumulative probability on the amplitude and inter-event interval of mIPSCs in wild type and transgenic mice.

The analysis of cumulative probability indicates significant differences between wild type and transgenic mice. Left shift in the probability of current amplitude and downward shift in the probability of the current inter-event interval are notable in transgenic mouse. Furthermore detailed analysis indicated that both the frequency as well as the amplitude of mIPSCs were significantly decreased in SCA10 transgenic mice compared to wild type. In the transgenic mice, the frequency of mIPSCs decreased from 4.69  $\pm$  0.29 Hz to 0.26  $\pm$  0.15 Hz (P < .05), and the amplitude of mIPSCs decreased from 142.00  $\pm$  7.93 mA to 63.36  $\pm$  12.33 mA (P < .05) (Figure 5-4).



Figure 5-4. The amplitude and frequency of mIPSCs in wild type and transgenic mice. The averaged data indicate significant decrease in the amplitude and frequency of mIPSCs in the transgenic mouse compared to wildtype (\*p < 0.05, wild type vs. transgenic). Statistical analyses were conducted by one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA).

These findings indicate a disturbed firing pattern of spontaneous inhibitory postsynaptic currents, suggesting that an alteration in inhibitory action is involved in the manifestation of the motor phenotype of SCA10. This aberrant firing pattern in Purkinje neurons indicates that AUUCU-RNA affects the neuronal activity of Purkinje cells, thus impairs the function of the cerebellar neuronal network, leading to the SCA10 phenotype. Furthermore, this altered electrophysiological property may represent the phenotypic consequence of aberrant splicing of the Nova targets in SCA10.

# Effects of GABA inhibitor and Glycine inhibitor on mIPSCs of Purkinje cells in the SCA10 transgenic mice

Our data indicated that the inhibitory synaptic transmission was significantly altered in SCA10 transgenic animals. GABA and glycine play important roles as two major inhibitory neurotransmitters in the cerebellum in modulating cerebellar inhibitory transmission. To further characterize the main electrophysiological defects in the SCA10 transgenic mice, we performed a series of electrophysiological measurements to identify the inhibitory neurotransmitter system that was significantly altered in the cerebellum in the SCA10 transgenic mice. To achieve this goal, we analyzed mIPSCs of Purkinje cells after treatment with GABA and glycine inhibitors. To determine which neurotransmitter system mediates abnormal inhibitory transmission in SCA10, GABAA- and glycine-mediated mIPSCs were analyzed in Purkinje cells of SCA10 mice. To identify glycine-mediated mIPSCs (n = 6) or GABAA-mediated mIPSCs (n = 6), either 10  $\mu$ mol/L TTX, were treated respectively during recordings. The Purkinje cells were perfused with the solution containing either 10  $\mu$ M bicuculline (GABA inhibitor), or 1  $\mu$ M strychnine (Glycine inhibitor), then washed out (wash-out).

Our recordings revealed significant morphological changes in the tracings of mIPSCs after bicuculline perfusion (GABA inhibitor), but not after strychnine perfusion (Glycine inhibitor) (Figure 5-5). Further analysis of the data indicated a significant reduction in the frequency of GABAA-receptor-mediated mIPSC, from  $1.65 \pm 1.19$  Hz to  $0.05 \pm 0.07$  Hz, and amplitude of GABAA-receptor-mediated mIPSC from  $73.42 \pm 21.21$  mA to  $40.61 \pm 15.18$  mA (Figure 5-6). There was no significant change in Glycine-receptor-mediated mIPSC frequency and amplitude (Figure 5-7). Therefore, the data suggested that disruption of mIPSCs in the SCA10 occurs predominantly due to aberrant GABA receptor activity. This study demonstrated a significant alteration of inhibitory synaptic transmission in SCA10. Moreover, this study strongly indicates that this defect in inhibitory transmission of Purkinje cells is mediated through GABAA- but not glycine-receptor in cerebellum.

#### **SUMMARY & FURTHER STUDY**

Mutant AUUCU RNAs in SCA10 complex with and sequester Nova into RNA foci or aggregates and thus prevent Nova from its normal splicing-regulatory function. This results in aberrant splicing of the Nova target GABA<sub>A</sub>R and GlyR $\alpha$ 2 leading to the disruption of inhibitory transmission in the Purkinje cells in SCA10 cerebellum. Furthermore, our data suggest that disruption of inhibitory transmission occurs specifically through the modulation of the GABA<sub>A</sub>- but not via glycine-receptor-mediated neurotransmission. Through our current studies we were able to define SCA10 as a toxic RNA disease, and presented one of the possible molecular and electrophysiological mechanisms of SCA10 pathophysiology. In addition, to validate the functional consequence of Nova targets splicing defects in SCA10 through Nova dysfunction by the AUUCU RNA repeat, we suggest future electrophysiological investigation with Nova KO animals which may provide further insight into the

complexity and functional importance of Nova function in the molecular mechanisms underlying the SCA10 phenotype.



## Figure 5-5. mIPSCs after treatment of bicuculline (GABA inhibitor), or strychnine (Glycine inhibitor) in Purkinje cells of SCA10 mice.

The Purkinje cells were sequentially perfused with the solution containing either  $10\mu M$  bicuculline (GABA inhibitor) or  $1 \mu M$  strychnine (glycine inhibitor), then washed out (wash-out). The tracing of mIPSCs of Purkinje cells demonstrates significant morphological changes after bicuculline perfusion in transgenic mouse. In contrast, there is no change in mIPSCs after strychnine treatment.





# Figure 5-6. The amplitude and frequency of mIPSCs of Purkinje cells after bicuculline (GABA inhibitor) treatment in transgenic mouse.

The averaged data indicate significant decrease in the amplitude and frequency of mIPSCs after bicuculline perfusion (GABA inhibitor) in transgenic mouse (\*p< 0.05, GABA inhibitor vs. control and wash-out). Statistical analyses were conducted by one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA).







### LITERATURE CITED

- Al-Mahdawi S, Pinto RM, Ismail O, Varshney D, Lymperi S, Sandi C, Trabzuni D, Pook M. (2008) The Friedreich ataxia GAA repeat expansion mutation induces comparable epigenetic changes in human and transgenic mouse brain and heart tissues. Hum Mol Genet. 17:735–746.
- Amara SG, Jonas V, Rosenfeld MG, Ong ES and Evans R. (1982) Alternative RNA processing in calcitonin gene expression generates mRNAs encoding different polypeptide products. Nature. 298:240–244.
- Ashizawa, T. (2006) Spinocerebellar ataxia type 10: a disease caused by an expanded (ATTCT)n pentanucleotide repeat. In: Wells, R. D. and Ashizawa, T. (eds.) Genetic instabilities and neurological diseases. Academic Press, Burlington, MA, 01803-4252, United States. pp 433-446.
- Ashizawa, T. (2012) Spinocerebellar ataxia type 10. Handb Clin Neurol. 103:507-519.
- Baralle M, Pastor T, Bussani E, Pagani F. (2008) Influence of Friedreich ataxia GAA noncoding repeat expansions on pre-mRNA processing. Am J Hum Genet. 83:77–88.
- Baulac S, Huberfeld G, Gourfinkel-An I, Mitropoulou G, Beranger A, Prud'homme JF, Baulac M, Brice A, Bruzzone R, LeGuern E. (2001) First genetic evidence of GABA(A) receptor dysfunction in epilepsy: a mutation in the gamma2-subunit gene. Nat Genet. 28:46-48.
- Bidichandani SI, Ashizawa T, Patel PI. (1998) The GAA triplet-repeat expansion in Friedreich ataxia interferes with transcription and may be associated with an unusual DNA structure. Am J Hum Genet. 62:111–121.
- Bomsztyk, K., Denisenko, O., and Ostrowski, J. (2004) hnRNPK: one protein multiple processes. Bioessays. 26:629-638.

- Buckanovich RJ, and Darnell RB. (1997) The neuronal RNA binding protein Nova-1 recognizes specific RNA targets in vitro and in vivo. Mol Cell Biol. 17:3194-3201.
- Buckanovich RJ, Yang YY, Darnell RB. (1996) The onconeural antigen Nova-1 is a neuron-specific RNA-binding protein, the activity of which is inhibited by paraneoplastic antibodies. J Neurosci. 16:1114-1122.
- Campuzano V, Montermini L, Moltò MD, Pianese L, Cossée M, Cavalcanti F, Monros E, Rodius F, Duclos F, Monticelli A, Zara F, Cañizares J, Koutnikova H, Bidichandani SI, Gellera C, Brice A, Trouillas P, De Michele G, Filla A, De Frutos R, Palau F, Patel PI, Di Donato S, Mandel JL, Cocozza S, Koenig M, Pandolfo M. (1996) Friedreich's ataxia: autosomal recessive disease caused by an intronic GAA triplet repeat expansion. Science. 271:1423-1427.
- Castaldo I, Pinelli M, Monticelli A, Acquaviva F, Giacchetti M, Filla A, Sacchetti S, Keller S, Avvedimento VE, Chiariotti L, Cocozza S.(2008) DNA methylation in intron 1 of the frataxin gene is related to GAA repeat length and age of onset in Friedreich ataxia patients. J Med Genet. 45:808–812.
- Chen S, Berthelier V, Hamilton JB, O'Nuallain B, Wetzel R. (2002) Amyloid-like features of polyglutamine aggregates and their assembly kinetics. Biochemistry. 41:7391-7399.
- Chen X, Court DL and Ji X. (1999) Crystal structure of ERA: a GTPase-dependent cell cycle regulator containing an RNA binding motif. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 96:8396–8401.
- Christina L. Liquori, Kenneth Ricker, Melinda L. Moseley, Jennifer F. Jacobsen, Wolfram Kress, Susan L. Naylor, John W. Day, and Laura P. W. Ranum. (2001) Myotonic dystrophy type 2 caused by a CCTG expansion in intron 1 of ZNF9. Science. 293:864-867.
- Clark RM, Dalgliesh GL, Endres D, Gomez M, Taylor J, Bidichandani SI. (2004) Expansion of GAA triplet repeats in the human genome: unique origin of the FRDA mutation at the center of an Alu. Genomics. 83:373–383.

Cooper TA, Wan L, Dreyfuss G. (2009) RNA and disease. Cell. 136:777-793.

- Cummings CJ, Zoghbi HY. (2000) Trinucleotide repeats: mechanisms and pathology. Ann Rev Genomics Hum Genet. 1:281-328.
- Darnell RB. (1996) Onconeural antigens and the paraneoplastic neurologic disorders: at the intersection of cancer, immunity, and the brain. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 93:4529-4536.
- Davis M, McCurrach ME, Taneja KL, Singer RH and Housman DE. (1997) Expansion of a CUG trinucleotide repeat in the 3' untranslated region of myotonic dystrophy protein kinase transcripts results in nuclear retention of transcripts. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 94:7388–7393.
- Dredge BK, Darnell RB. (2003) Nova regulates GABA(A) receptor gamma2 alternative splicing via a distal downstream UCAU-rich intronic splicing enhancer. Mol Cell Biol. 23:4687-4700.
- Essrich C, Lorez M, Benson JA, Fritschy JM, Lüscher B.(1998) Postsynaptic clustering of major GABAA receptor subtypes requires the gamma 2 subunit and gephyrin. Nat Neurosci. 1:563-571.
- Faustino NA, Cooper TA. (2003) Pre-mRNA splicing and human disease. Genes Dev. 17:419-437.
- Gatchel, JR, and Zoghbi, HY. (2005) Diseases of unstable repeat expansion: mechanisms and common principles. Nat Rev Genet 6:743-755.
- Globas C, du Montcel ST, Baliko L, et al. (2008) Early symptoms in spinocerebellar ataxia type 1, 2, 3, and 6. Mov Disord. 23:2232-2238.
- Grabczyk E, Usdin K. (2000) The GAA\*TTC triplet repeat expanded in Friedreich's ataxia impedes transcription elongation by T7 RNA polymerase in a length and supercoil dependent manner. Nucleic Acids Res. 28:2815–2822.
- Grenningloh G, Gundelfinger E, Schmitt B, Betz H, Darlison MG, Barnard EA, Schofield PR, Seeburg PH. (1987) Glycine vs GABA receptors. Nature. 330:25-26.

- Grewal, RP, Achari, M, Matsuura, T, Durazo, A, Tayag, E, Zu, L, Pulst, SM, and Ashizawa, T. (2002) Clinical features and ATTCT repeat expansion in spinocerebellar ataxia type 10. Arch Neurol 59:1285-1290.
- Grewal RP, Tayag E, Figueroa KP, Zu L, Durazo A and Nunez C et al., (1998) Clinical and genetic analysis of a distinct autosomal dominant spinocerebellar ataxia. Neurology. 51:1423–1426
- Grüsser-Cornehls U, Luy M, Bäurle J.(1995) Electrophysiology and GABAimmunocytochemistry in the vestibular nuclei of normal (C57BL/6J) and Leaner mutant mice. Brain Res. 703:51-62.
- Harding AE. The inherited ataxias. (1988) Adv Neurol. 48:37-46.
- Hollmann M, Boulter J, Maron C, Beasley L, Sullivan J, Pecht G and Heinemann S. (1993) Zinc potentiates agonist-induced currents at certain splice variants of the NMDA receptor. Neuron. 10:943–954.
- Holmes SE, O'Hearn EE, McInnis MG, Gorelick-Feldman DA, Kleiderlein JJ, Callahan C, Kwak NG, Ingersoll-Ashworth RG, Sherr M, Sumner AJ, Sharp AH, Ananth U, Seltzer WK, Boss MA, Vieria-Saecker AM, Epplen JT, Riess O, Ross CA, Margolis RL. (1999) Expansion of a novel CAG trinucleotide repeat in the 5' region of PPP2R2B is associated with SCA12. Nat Genet. 23:391-392.
- Homanics GE, Harrison NL, Quinlan JJ, Krasowski MD, Rick CE, de Blas AL, Mehta AK, Kist F, Mihalek RM, Aul JJ, Firestone LL. (1999) Normal electrophysiological and behavioral responses to ethanol in mice lacking the long splice variant of the gamma2 subunit of the gamma-aminobutyrate type A receptor. Neuropharmacology. 38:253-265.
- Idriss, H., Kumar, A., Casas-Finet, J. R., Guo, H., Damuni, Z., and Wilson, S. H. (1994) Regulation of in vitro nucleic acid strand annealing activity of heterogeneous nuclear ribonucleoprotein protein A1 by reversible phosphorylation. Biochemistry. 33:11382-11390.
- Jeffreys AJ, Wilson V, Thein SL. (1985) Individual-specific 'fingerprints' of human DNA. Nature. 316:76-79.

- Jellinger, K. A., and Stadelmann, C. H. (2000) The enigma of cell death in neurodegenerative disorders. J Neural Transm. Suppl. 60: 21-36.
- Jensen KB, Dredge BK, Stefani G, Zhong R, Buckanovich RJ, Okano HJ, Yang YY, Darnell RB.(2000) Nova-1 regulates neuron-specific alternative splicing and is essential for neuronal viability. Neuron. 25:359-371.
- Jensen KB, Musunuru K, Lewis HA, Burley SK, Darnell RB.(2000) The tetranucleotide UCAY directs the specific recognition of RNA by the Nova K-homology 3 domain. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 97:5740-5745.
- Jin DK, Oh MR, Song SM, et al. (1999) Frequency of spinocerebellar ataxias types 1,2,3,6,7, and dentatorubropallidoluysian atrophy mutations in Korean patients with spinocerebellar ataxia. J Neurol. 246:207-210.
- Jin P, Walther D, Zhang J, Rowe-Teeter C, Fu GK. (2004) Serine 171, a conserved residue in the gamma-aminobutyric acid type A (GABAA) receptor gamma2 subunit, mediates subunit interaction and cell surface localization. J Biol Chem. 279:14179-14183.
- Kaja S, Hann V, Payne HL, Thompson CL.(2007) Aberrant cerebellar granule cellspecific GABAA receptor expression in the epileptic and ataxic mouse mutant, Tottering. Neuroscience.148:115-125.
- Kaytor MD, Warren ST. (1999) Aberrant protein deposition and neurologic disease. J Biol Chem. 274:37507-37510.
- Kim E, Napierala M, Dent SY. (2011) Hyperexpansion of GAA repeats affects postinitiation steps of FXN transcription in Friedreich's ataxia. Nucleic Acids Res. 39:8366–8377.
- Kittler JT, Delmas P, Jovanovic JN, Brown DA, Smart TG, Moss SJ. (2000) Constitutive endocytosis of GABAA receptors by an association with the adaptin AP2 complex modulates inhibitory synaptic currents in hippocampal neurons. J Neurosci. 20:7972-7977.
- Klockgether T. (2007) Parkinsonism & related disorders. Ataxias. Parkinsonism Relat Disord. 13 Suppl. 3:S391-394.

Koeppen AH. (2005) The pathogenesis of spinocerebellar ataxia. Cerebellum. 4:62-73.

- Koob MD, Moseley ML, Schut LJ, Benzow KA, Bird TD, Day JW, Ranum LP. (1999) An untranslated CTG expansion causes a novel form of spinocerebellar ataxia (SCA8). Nat Genet. 21:379-384.
- Koshy BT, Zoghbi HY. (1997) The CAG/polyglutamine tract diseases: gene products and molecular pathogenesis. Brain Pathol. 7:927-942.
- Kuhse J, Kuryatov A, Maulet Y, Malosio ML, Schmieden V, and Betz H. (1991) Alternative splicing generates two isoforms of the alpha 2 subunit of the inhibitory glycine receptor. FEBS Lett. 283:73-77.
- Kumari D, Usdin K. (2012) Is Friedreich ataxia an epigenetic disorder? Clin Epigenetics. 4:2.
- LaSpada AR, Paulson HL, Fischbeck KH. (1994) Trinucleotide repeat expansion in neurologic disease. Ann Neurology. 36:814–822.
- LaSpada AR, Wilson EM, Lubahn DB, Harding AE, Fischbeck KH. (1991) Androgen receptor gene mutations in X-linked spinal and bulbar muscular atrophy. Nature. 352:77–79.
- Lewis HA, Chen H, Edo C, Buckanovich RJ, Yang YY, Musunuru K, Zhong R, Darnell RB, Burley SK.(1999) Crystal structures of Nova-1 and Nova-2 K-homology RNA-binding domains. Structure. 7:191-203.
- Lewis HA, Musunuru K, Jensen KB, Edo C, Chen H, Darnell RB and Burley SK. (2000) Sequence-specific RNA binding by a Nova KH domain: implications for paraneoplastic disease and the fragile X syndrome. Cell. 100:323–332.
- Liao P, Zhang HY, Soong TW. (2009) Alternative splicing of voltage-gated calcium channels: from molecular biology to disease. Pflugers Arch. 458:481-487.

- Lim J, Crespo-Barreto J, Jafar-Nejad P, Bowman AB, Richman R, Hill DE, Orr HT, Zoghbi HY. (2008) Opposing effects of polyglutamine expansion on native protein complexes contribute to SCA1. Nature. 452:713-718.
- Lin, X., and Ashizawa, T. (2003) SCA10 and ATTCT repeat expansion: clinical features and molecular aspects. Cytogenet Genome Res. 100:184-188.
- Lindblad K, Savontaus ML, Stevanin G, Holmberg M, Digre K, Zander C, Ehrsson H, David G, Benomar A, Nikoskelainen E, Trottier Y, Holmgren G, Ptacek LJ, Anttinen A, Brice A, Schalling M. (1996) An expanded CAG repeat sequence in spinocerebellar ataxia type 7. Genome Res. 6:965-971.
- Lodi R, Tonon C, Calabrese V, Schapira AH (2006) Friedreich's ataxia: from disease mechanisms to therapeutic interventions. Antioxid Redox Signal. 8:438–443.
- Lu CS, Wu Chou YH, Kuo PC, Chang HC, Weng YH. (2004) The parkinsonian phenotype of spinocerebellar ataxia type 2. Arch Neurol. 61:35-38.
- Lynch M, Chen L, Ravitz MJ, Mehtani S, Korenblat K, Pazin MJ, and Schmidt EV. (2005) hnRNPK binds a core polypyrimidine element in the eukaryotic translation initiation factor 4E (eIF4E) promoter, and its regulation of eIF4E contributes to neoplastic transformation. Mol Cell Biol. 25:6436-6453.
- Magaña JJ, Cisneros B. (2011) Perspectives on gene therapy in myotonic dystrophy type 1. J Neurosci Res. 89:275-285.
- Mahadevan M, Tsilfidis C, Sabourin L, Shutler G, Amemiya C, Jansen G, Neville C, Narang M, Barcelo J, O'Hoy K and et al. (1992) Myotonic dystrophy mutation: an unstable CTG repeat in the 3' untranslated region of the gene. Science. 255:1253– 1255.
- Mariappan SV, Catasti P, Silks LA, Bradbury EM, Gupta G. (1999) The high-resolution structure of the triplex formed by the GAA/TTC triplet repeat associated with Friedreich's ataxia. J Mol Biol. 285:2035–2052.
- Marz, P., Probst, A., Lang, S., Schwager, M., Rose-John, S., Otten, U., and Ozbek, S. (2004) Ataxin-10, the spinocerebellar ataxia type 10 neurodegenerative disorder protein, is essential for survival of cerebellar neurons. J Biol Chem. 279:35542-35550.

- Mastroyiannopoulos NP, Shammas C, Phylactou LA. (2010) Tackling the pathogenesis of RNA nuclear retention in myotonic dystrophy. Biol Cell. 102:515-523.
- Matsuura T, Achari M, Khajavi M, Bachinski LL, Zoghbi HY and Ashizawa T. (1999) Mapping of a gene for a novel spinocerebellar ataxia with pure cerebellar signs and epilepsy. Ann Neurol. 1002:1531-8249
- Matsuura T, and Ashizawa T. (2002) Polymerase chain reaction amplification of expanded ATTCT repeat in spinocerebellar ataxia type 10. Ann Neurol. 51:271-272.
- Matsuura T, Fang P, Pearson CE, Jayakar P, Ashizawa T, Roa BB, and Nelson DL. (2006) Interruptions in the expanded ATTCT repeat of spinocerebellar ataxia type 10: repeat purity as a disease modifier? Am J Hum Genet. 78:125-129.
- Matsuura T, Yamagata T, Burgess DL, Rasmussen A, Grewal RP, Watase K, Khajavi M, McCall AE, Davis CF, Zu L, Achari M, Pulst SM, Alonso E, Noebels JL, Nelson DL, Zoghbi H, and Ashizawa T. (2000) Large expansion of the ATTCT pentanucleotide repeat in spinocerebellar ataxia type 10. Nat Genet. 26:191-194.
- Michael WM, Eder PS and Dreyfuss G. (1997) The K nuclear shuttling domain: a novel signal for nuclear import and nuclear export in the hnRNP K protein. EMBO J. 16:3587–3598.
- Miller PS, Harvey RJ, Smart TG. (2004) Differential agonist sensitivity of glycine receptor alpha2 subunit splice variants. Br J Pharmacol. 143:19-26.
- Moumen A, Masterson P, O'Connor MJ, and Jackson SP. (2005) hnRNPK: an HDM2 target and transcriptional coactivator of p53 in response to DNA damage. Cell. 123:1065-1078.
- Musco G, Stier G, Joseph C, Morelli MA and Pastore A. (1996) Three-dimensional structure and stability of the KH domain: molecular insights into the fragile X syndrome. Cell. 85:237–245.

- Musunuru K, and Darnell RB. (2001) Paraneoplastic neurologic disease antigens: RNAbinding proteins and signaling proteins in neuronal degeneration. Annu Rev Neurosci. 24:239-262.
- Nagai Y, Inui T, Popiel HA, Fujikake N, Hasegawa K, Urade Y, Goto Y, Naiki H, Toda T. (2007) A toxic monomeric conformer of the polyglutamine protein. Nat Struct Mol Biol. 14:332-340.
- O'Rourke JR, Swanson MS. (2009) Mechanisms of RNA-mediated disease. J Biol Chem. 284:7419–7423.
- Osborne RJ, Thornton CA. (2006) RNA-dominant diseases. Hum Mol Genet. 15 Spec No 2:R162–169.
- Ostareck DH, Ostareck-Lederer A, Wilm M, Thiele BJ, Mann M and Hentze MW. (1997) mRNA silencing in erythroid differentiation—hnRNP K and hnRNP E1 regulate 15-lipoxygenase translation from the 3' end. Cell. 89:597–606.
- Paulson HL, Fischbeck KH. (1996) Trinucleotide repeats in neurogenetic disorders. Annu Rev Neurosci. 19:79-107.
- Payne HL, Donoghue PS, Connelly WM, Hinterreiter S, Tiwari P, Ives JH, Hann V, Sieghart W, Lees G, Thompson CL.(2006) Aberrant GABA(A) receptor expression in the dentate gyrus of the epileptic mutant mouse stargazer. J Neurosci. 26:8600-8608.
- Pfeiffer RF, McComb RD. (1990) Dentatorubro-pallidoluysian atrophy of the myoclonus epilepsy type with posterior column degeneration. Mov Disord. 5:134-138.
- Punga T, Buhler M. (2010) Long intronic GAA repeats causing Friedreich ataxia impede transcription elongation. EMBO Mol Med. 2:120–129.
- Quinlan JJ, Firestone LL, Homanics GE. (2000) Mice lacking the long splice variant of the gamma 2 subunit of the GABA(A) receptor are more sensitive to benzodiazepines. Pharmacol Biochem Behav. 66:371-374.
- Ranum LP, Cooper TA. (2006) RNA-mediated neuromuscular disorders. Annu Rev Neurosci. 29:259–277.

- Raskin S, Ashizawa T, Teive HA, Arruda WO, Fang P, Gao R, White MC, Werneck LC, Roa B. (2007) Reduced penetrance in a Brazilian family with spinocerebellar ataxia type 10. Arch Neurol. 64:591-594.
- Rasmussen A, Matsuura T, Ruano L, Yescas P, Ochoa A, Ashizawa T, and Alonso E. (2001) Clinical and genetic analysis of four Mexican families with spinocerebellar ataxia type 10. Ann Neurol. 50:234-239.
- Rufa A, Dotti MT, Galli L, Orrico A, Sicurelli F. Federico A. (2002) Spinocerebellar ataxia type 2 (SCA2) associated with retinal pigmentary degeneration. Eur Neurol. 47:128-129.
- Sakai H, Yoshida K, Shimizu Y, Morita H, Ikeda S, Matsumoto N. (2010) Analysis of an insertion mutation in a cohort of 94 patients with spinocerebellar ataxia type 31 from Nagano, Japan. Neurogenetics. 11:409-415.
- Sakamoto N, Chastain PD, Parniewski P, Ohshima K, Pandolfo M, Griffith JD, Wells RD. (1999) Sticky DNA: self-association properties of long GAA.TTC repeats in R.R.Y triplex structures from Friedreich's ataxia. Mol Cell. 3:465–475.
- Sato N, Amino T, Kobayashi K, Asakawa S, Ishiguro T and Tsunemi T et al. (2009) Spinocerebellar ataxia type 31 is associated with 'inserted' penta-nucleotide repeats containing (TGGAA)n. Am J Hum Genet. 85:544–557.
- Siomi H, Choi M, Siomi MC, Nussbaum RL, Dreyfuss G. (1994) Essential role for KH domains in RNA binding: impaired RNA binding by a mutation in the KH domain of FMR1 that causes fragile X syndrome. Cell. 77:33-39.
- Soragni E, Herman D, Dent SY, Gottesfeld JM, Wells RD, Napierala M. (2008) Long intronic GAA\*TTC repeats induce epigenetic changes and reporter gene silencing in a molecular model of Friedreich ataxia. Nucleic Acids Res. 36:6056–6065.
- Sommer B, Keinanen K, Verdoorn TA, Wisden W, Burnashev N, Herb A, Kohler M, Takagi T, Sakman B and Seeburg PH. (1990) Flip and flop: a cell-specific functional switch in glutamate-operated channels of the CNS. Science. 249:1580– 1585.

- Takahashi T, Kikuchi S, Katada S, Nagai Y, Nishizawa M, Onodera O. (2008) Soluble polyglutamine oligomers formed prior to inclusion body formation are cytotoxic. Hum Mol Genet. 17:345-356.
- Tan NC, Zhou Y, Tan AS, Chong SS, Lee WL. (2004) Spinocerebellar ataxia type 2 with focal epilepsy-an unusual association. Ann Acad Med Singapore. 33:103-106.
- Taneja KL, McCurrach M, Schalling M, Housman D and Singer RH, (1995) Foci of trinucleotide repeat transcripts in nuclei of myotonic dystrophy cells and tissues. J Cell Biol. 128:995–1002.
- Tang B, Liu C, Shen L, et al. (2000) Frequency of SCA1, SCA2, SCA3/MJD, SCA6, SCA7, and DRPLA CAG trinucleotide repeat expansion in patients with hereditary spinocerebellar ataxia from Chinese kindreds. Arch Neurol. 57:540-544.
- Teive HA, Roa BB, Raskin S, Fang P, Arruda WO, Neto YC, Gao R, Werneck LC, and Ashizawa T. (2004) Clinical phenotype of Brazilian families with spinocerebellar ataxia 10. Neurology. 63:1509-1512
- Teplova M, Malinina L, Darnell JC, Song J, Lu M, Abagyan R, Musunuru K, Teplov A, Burley SK, Darnell RB, Patel DJ. (2011) Protein-RNA and protein-protein recognition by dual KH1/2 domains of the neuronal splicing factor Nova-1. Structure. 19:930-944.
- Todd PK, Paulson HL. (2010) RNA-mediated neurodegeneration in repeat expansion disorders. Ann Neurol. 67:291-300.
- Ule J, Jensen KB, Ruggiu M, Mele A, Ule A, Darnell RB.(2003) CLIP identifies Novaregulated RNA networks in the brain. Science. 302:1212-1215.
- Ule J, Ule A, Spencer J, Williams A, Hu JS, Cline M, Wang H, Clark T, Fraser C, Ruggiu M, Zeeberg BR, Kane D, Weinstein JN, Blume J, Darnell RB. (2005) Nova regulates brain-specific splicing to shape the synapse. Nat Genet. 37:844-852.
- Wakamiya M, Liu Y, Schuster GC, Gao R, Xu W, Sarkar P, Lin X, and Ashizawa T. (2006) The role of ataxin-10 in spinocerebellar ataxia type 10 pathogenesis. Neurology. 67:607-613

- Wallace RH, Marini C, Petrou S, Harkin LA, Bowser DN, Panchal RG, Williams DA, Sutherland GR, Mulley JC, Scheffer IE, Berkovic SF. (2001) Mutant GABA(A) receptor gamma2-subunit in childhood absence epilepsy and febrile seizures. Nat Genet. 28:49-52.
- Waragai M, Nagamitsu S, Xu W, Li YJ, Lin X, and Ashizawa T. (2006) Ataxin 10 induces neuritogenesis via interaction with G-protein beta2 subunit. J Neurosci Res. 83:1170-1178
- White MC, Gao R, Xu W, Mandal SM, Lim JG, Hazra TK, Wakamiya M, Edwards SF, Raskin S, Teive HA, Zoghbi HY, Sarkar PS, Ashizawa T. (2010) Inactivation of hnRNP K by expanded intronic AUUCU repeat induces apoptosis via translocation of PKCdelta to mitochondria in spinocerebellar ataxia 10. PLoS Genet. 6:e1000984.
- Whiting P, McKernan RM, Iversen LL. (1990) Another mechanism for creating diversity in gamma-aminobutyrate type A receptors: NA splcing directs expression of two forms of gamma 2 phosphorylation site. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. 87:9966–9970.
- Wimberly BT, Brodersen DE, Clemons WM Jr, Morgan-Warren RJ, Carter AP, Vonrhein C, Hartsch T and Ramakrishnan V. (2000) Structure of the 30S ribosomal subunit. Nature. 407:327–339.
- Zoghbi HY, Orr HT. (2000) Glutamine repeats and neurodegeneration. Annu Rev Neurosci. 23:217–247.
- Zu L, Figueroa KP, Grewal R and Pulst SM. (1999) Mapping of a new autosomal dominant spinocerebellar ataxia to chromosome 22. Am J Hum Genet. 64:594– 599.

Vita

Jung Gook Lim was born in Kunsan, South Korea, on November 21, 1971, to In Sik Lim and Young Sun Song. Jung earned a Doctor of Oriental Medicine degree in 1997 and then a Doctor of Medicine degree in 2003 from Wonkwang University in Iksan, South Korea. Jung completed his medical training in Internal Medicine at St. Mary's Medical Center affiliated with Saint Louis University, St. Louis, MO. in 2007. Jung began his graduate studies in Neuroscience at the University of Texas Medical Branch under the supervision of Tetsuo Ashizawa, M.D and Partha S. Sarkar, Ph.D. in 2007. Jung completed clinical training in Neurology at the University of Texas Medical Branch and was board-certified in Neurology in 2011. Jung served as a Chief Resident during his neurology training. Jung actively participated in teaching medical students and residents during hid medical training.

Permanent address: 100 Sajeong-Dong, Kumho APT 203/302, Kunsan, South Korea. This dissertation was typed by Jung Gook Lim.

### **Publications**

Kwon KB, Kim EK, **Lim JG**, Shin BC, Song YS, Seo EA, Ahn KY, Song BK, and Ryu DG. (2004) Sophorae radix extract inhibits high glucose-induced vascular cell adhesion molecule-1 up-regulation on endothelial cell line. Clin Chim Acta. 348:79-86.

Kwon KB, Kim EK, **Lim JG**, Jeong ES, Shin BC, Jeon YS, Kim KS, Seo EA, and Ryu DG. (2005) Molecular mechanisms of apoptosis induced by Scorpio water extract in human. World J Gastroenterol. 11:943-947.

Kwon KB, Kim EK, **Lim JG**, Shin BC, Han SC, Song BK, Kim KS, Seo EA, and Ryu DG. (2005) Protective effect of Coptidis Rhizoma on S-nitroso-Nacetylpenicillamine (SNAP)-induced apoptosis and necrosis in pancreatic RINm5F cells. Life Sci. 76:917-929.

White MC, Gao R, Xu W, Mandal SM, Lim JG, Hazra TK, Wakamiya M, Edwards SF, Raskin S, Teive HA, Zoghbi HY, Sarkar PS, and Ashizawa T. (2010) Inactivation of hnRNP K by Expanded Intronic AUUCU Repeat Induces Apoptosis via Translocation of PKCδ to Mitochondria in Spinocerebellar Ataxia 10. PLoS Genetics. 6:e1000984.

Roxburgh RH, Smith CO, **Lim JG**, Bachman DF, Byrd E, and Bird TD. (2013) The unique co-occurrence of spinocerebellar ataxia type 10 (SCA10) and Huntington disease. J Neurol Sci. 324:176-178.